
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA 

ALAMEDA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2025 

2:00 P.M. 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair –– John Marchand Vice Chair –– Nate Miley –– David Haubert –– Jack Balch –– Mariellen Faria –– Sblend Sblendorio 

Lena Tam, Alternate –– Sherry Hu, Alternate –– Peter Rosen, Alternate –– Bob Woerner, Alternate 

 

 

In Person: 

Council Chamber 

Dublin City Hall 

100 Civic Plaza 

Dublin, CA 94568 

 

Or from the following remote locations: 

 

• 1221 Oak Street, Suite 536, Oakland, CA 94612 

 

Via Video-Teleconference Participation: 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82983511571?pwd=bi8xWkVsU2QxYjB3bzE2S2lubnN2Zz09 

Meeting ID: 829 8351 1571 

Password (if prompted): lafco or 140331 

(669)-900-9128 

 

Remote participation by e-mail is also welcomed by sending comments to LAFCO staff at 

rachel.jones@acgov.org. All e-mails received before 4:00 P.M. one business day before the meeting will be 

forwarded to the Commission and posted online.   These comments will also be referenced at the meeting.    

 

If you need assistance before the meeting, please contact Executive Officer, Rachel Jones at: 

rachel.jones@acgov.org  

 

 

1.  2:00 P.M. – Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

 

2.  Roll Call 

 

3.  Public Comment:  Anyone from the audience may address the Commission on any matter not listed on 

the agenda and within the jurisdiction of Alameda LAFCO.  The Commission cannot act upon matters 

not appearing on the agenda.  Speakers are limited to three (3) minutes.                   

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 
 

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82983511571?pwd=bi8xWkVsU2QxYjB3bzE2S2lubnN2Zz09
mailto:rachel.jones@acgov.org


ALAMEDA LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Regular Meeting Agenda Page 2 of 4 

 

 

4.  Consent Items: 

a. Approval of Meeting Minutes: July 10, 2025 Regular Meeting  

b. Approval of Meeting Dates for Calendar Year 2026 

c. Contract Extension with Lamphier-Gregory  

d. Contract Extension with ADW Consulting  

e. Contract Amendment for Accounting Services 

f. Contract Amendment with Epic Insurance Brokers 

 

5.  Castlewood County Service Area Governance Study and Contribution Request – (Business)   

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will receive a presentation from 

representatives of the Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA) regarding the findings of an 

Existing Conditions Report prepared by Berkson Associates. The report evaluates the governance, 

service delivery, and financial condition of the district and identifies potential alternative 

governance structures, including annexation to the City of Pleasanton.  

 

LAFCO Staff Recommendation: Staff is presenting the report to provide context, outline the 

request, and seek Commission direction on whether to allocate funds toward the proposed Phase II 

analysis. 

 

6.  LAFCO Retirement and Health Benefit Plan Options – (Business)   

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) is asked to discuss and select 

retirement and health benefit providers to ensure implementation of LAFCO’s transition to 

independence effective January 1, 2026. 

 

LAFCO Staff Recommendation: Select providers for LAFCO’s retirement and health and welfare 

benefits, and direct staff, in consultation with legal counsel, to finalize agreements with the chosen 

providers to ensure implementation by January 1, 2026. 

 

7.  Draft Chart of Accounts for LAFCO Financial System – (Business)   

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will receive a report on the draft Chart of 

Accounts (CoA) prepared in support of the Commission’s transition to full administrative and fiscal 

independence from Alameda County. The new CoA will establish a dedicated financial reporting 

framework tailored to LAFCO’s operations, replacing the County’s system beginning January 1, 2026. 

 

LAFCO Staff Recommendation: Direct staff to work with the Policy and Budget Committee and 

the bookkeeper to finalize the CoA for implementation on January 1, 2026. 
 

8.  Matters Initiated by Members of the Commission 

 

9.  Executive Officer Report 

 

10.  

 

 

 

 

Informational Items 

a. Current and Pending Proposals 

b. Progress Report on 2025-2026 Work Plan 

c. CALAFCO Annual Conference from October 22nd – 24th in San Diego 

2



ALAMEDA LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Regular Meeting Agenda Page 3 of 4 

 

 

 

11. 1

5

. 

Adjournment of Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

 

Next Meetings of the Commission 

 

Policy and Budget Committee Meeting  

Thursday, October 2, 2025 at 2:00 p.m., Dublin City Hall, Bray Community Room 

 

Regular Meeting 

Thursday, November 13, 2025 at 2:00 p.m., Dublin City Hall, Council Chamber  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3



ALAMEDA LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Regular Meeting Agenda Page 4 of 4 

 

 

DISCLOSURE OF BUSINESS OR CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTIONS TO COMMISSIONERSRE 

  
Government Code Section 84308 requires that a Commissioner (regular or alternate) disqualify herself or himself and not participate 

in a proceeding involving an "entitlement for use" application if, within the last twelve months, the Commissioner has received $250 or 

more in business or campaign contributions from an applicant, an agent of an applicant, or any financially interested person who 

actively supports or opposes a decision on the matter. A LAFCo decision approving a proposal (e.g., for an annexation) will often be an 

"entitlement for use" within the meaning of Section 84308.  Sphere of Influence determinations are exempt under Government Code Section   

84308. 

 

If you are an applicant or an agent of an applicant on such a matter to be heard by the Commission and if you have made business or 

campaign contributions totaling $250 or more to any Commissioner in the past twelve months, Section 84308(d) requires that you disclose 

that fact for the official record of the proceeding. The disclosure of any such contribution (including the amount of the contribution and the 

name of the recipient Commissioner) must be made either: l) In writing and delivered to the Secretary of the Commission prior to the hearing 

on the matter, or 2) By oral declaration made at the time the hearing on the matter is opened. Contribution disclosure forms are available at 

the meeting for anyone who prefers to disclose contributions in writing. 

 
Pursuant to GC Section 84308, if you wish to participate in the above proceedings, you or your agent are prohibited from making a campaign 
contribution of $250 or more to any Commissioner. This prohibition begins on the date you begin to actively support or oppose an application 

before LAFCO and continues until 3 months after a final decision is rendered by LAFCO.  If you or your agent have made a contribution 
of $250 or more to any Commissioner during the 12 months preceding the decision, in the proceeding that Commissioner must disqualify 
himself or herself from the decision. However, disqualification is not required if the Commissioner returns that campaign contribution within 
30 days of learning both about the contribution and the fact that you are a participant in the proceedings. Separately, any person with a 
disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) may receive a copy of the agenda or a copy of all the documents constituting the 
agenda packet for a meeting upon request. Any person with a disability covered under the ADA may also request a disability-related 
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in a public meeting. Please contact the LAFCO 
office at least three (3) working days prior to the meeting for any requested arrangements or accommodations. 

 

Alameda LAFCO Administrative Office  
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110  

Hayward, CA 94544 

T: 510.670.6267 

W: alamedalafco.org

4



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Vice Chair 
City of Livermore 
 
Sherry Hu, Alternate 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair 
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare District 
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 4a 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  

   

FROM: April L. Raffel, Commission Clerk 

    

SUBJECT: July 10th Regular Meeting Minutes 

 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will consider draft minutes prepared 

for the regular meeting held on July 10, 2025. The minutes are in action‐form and being presented 

for formal Commission approval. 

 

Background 

 

The Ralph M. Brown Act was enacted by the State Legislature in 1953 and – among other items – 

requires public agencies to maintain written minutes for qualifying meetings. 

 

Discussion 

 

This item is for Alameda LAFCO to consider approving action minutes for the July 10, 2025, regular 

meeting. The attendance record for the meeting is as follows. 

 

• All regular Commissioners were present except John Marchand (City Member) 

• All alternate Commissioners were present except Lena Tam (County of Alameda)  

 

Alternatives for Action  

 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Approve the draft minutes prepared for Alameda LAFCO’s July 10, 2025, regular meeting.   

(Attachment 1) with any desired corrections or clarifications.  

 

Alternative Two: 

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide directions to staff as needed. 

 

5



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Regular Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4a 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2 | P a g e  

 

Recommendation  

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  

 

Procedures 

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the consent calendar. A 

successful motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the 

staff recommendation as provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 

 

Respectfully,  

 

 

 

April L. Raffel 

Commission Clerk 

  

 

Attachments: 

1. Draft Meeting Minutes for July 10th, 2025, Regular Meeting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6



Alameda LAFCO 
Draft Minutes | July 10, 2025 

1 | Page 

 

SUMMARY ACTION MINUTES 

ALAMEDA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

July 10, 2025, Regular Meeting 

City of Dublin Council Chambers, 100 Civic Drive, Dublin, CA  

1. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

2. ROLL CALL

The regular meeting was called to order at 2:04 p.m. by Chair Johnson.

The Commission Clerk performed the roll call with the following attendance recorded.

Regulars Present: Jack Balch, City of Pleasanton 

Mariellen Faria, Eden Township Healthcare District 

David Haubert, County of Alameda  

Ralph Johnson, Castro Valley Sanitary District (Chair) 

Nathan Miley, County of Alameda* 

Sblend Sblendorio, Public Member 

Alternates Present: Sherry Hu, City of Dublin (Voting) 

Peter Rosen, Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

Bob Woerner, Public Member  

Members Absent: John Marchand, City of Livermore 

Lena Tam, County of Alameda (alternate) 

*Attended by videoconference.

The Commission Clerk confirmed a quorum was present with seven voting members. Also 

present at the meeting were Executive Officer Rachel Jones, Commission Counsel Andrew 

Massey, and Commission Clerk April Raffel. 

3. RECOGNITION OF DEDICATED SERVICE

The Commission honored Alternate Special District Member, Georgean Vonheeder-Leopold,

for her outstanding service to Alameda LAFCO. Her thoughtful leadership, commitment to

good governance, and advocacy for the public interest have contributed significantly to the

agency’s mission and success. The Commission extended its sincere gratitude for her 12 years

of service and contributions to the LAFCO community.

4. WELCOME NEW COMMISSIONER

The Commission acknowledged the results of the Independent Special Districts Selection

Committee election held on May 14, 2025, confirming the election of Peter Rosen from

Hayward Area Recreation and Park District to the Alternate Special District Member seat.

Attachment 1

7



Alameda LAFCO 
Draft Minutes | July 10, 2025 

2 | Page 

 

 

5. PUBLIC COMMENT: 

 Chair Johnson invited anyone from the public to address the Commission on any matter not listed 

on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Commission. There were none.  

 

 

6. CONSENT ITEMS 

Item 6a 

Approval of Meeting Minutes for May 8, 2025, Regular Meeting 

The item presented to approve the draft action minutes prepared for the Commission’s regular 

meeting on May 8, 2025. Recommendation to approve. 

 

Item 6b 

Approval of Contract Extension for Professional Auditing Services 

The item presented to approve the Contract Extension for Professional Auditing Services. 

Recommendation to approve.   

 

Item 6c 

Approval of the Legal Services Contract Agreement for General Counsel Services. 

The item presented to approve the Legal Services Contract Agreement for General Counsel 

Services. Recommendation to approve. 

 

Item 6d 

Approval of the Time Extension for LAFCO File No. 2024-01 

The item presented to approve the time extension for LAFCO File No. 2024-01. Recommendation 

to approve.  

 

Chair Johnson asked if the Commissioners would like to pull any consent items for discussion. 

Commissioner Balch noted a clerical error on the posted agenda regarding the Vice Chair.   

 

Commissioner Sblendorio motioned with a second from Commissioner Haubert to approve the 

consent calendar. Roll call requested: 

 

AYES: Balch, Faria, Haubert, Hu (voting for Marchand), Johnson, Miley, and Sblendorio 

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Marchand 

ABSTAIN: None 

 

The motion was approved 7-0.  

 

 

7. UPDATE AND PRESENTATION ON THE REGIONAL WATER AND WASTEWATER 

COMMITTEE – (Business) 

Executive Officer Jones introduced Eric Rosenblum, who presented an update on the Regional 

Water and Wastewater Committee initiative. His presentation highlighted key outcomes from 

May 21, 2025, interagency workshop and outlined recent developments regarding potential 

alignment with the Alameda County Special Districts Association (ACSDA).   

8



Alameda LAFCO 
Draft Minutes | July 10, 2025 

3 | Page 

 

 

No formal action is required at this time, unless otherwise directed by the Commission. A final 

report with findings and recommendations will be presented to the Commission at its next regular 

meeting. 

 

Chair Johnson invited a Commission discussion.  Commission discussion continued.  

 

Chair Johnson invited public comments. There was one public comment to address the 

Commission from the following person: 

 

- Georgean Vonheeder-Leopold, Dublin resident 

 

 Chair Johnson proceeded to close the public hearing. Commission discussion continued.  

 

 

8. SALC PLANNING GRANT APPLICATION - (Business) 

Executive Officer Jones presented a resolution f o r  c o n s i d e r a t i o n  authorizing A l a m e d a  

L A F C O  t o  serve as lead applicant for a $500,000 Sustainable Agricultural Lands Conservation 

(SALC) planning grant. If awarded, the grant would support a two-year regional initiative to establish 

the Bay Area Agricultural Resiliency Collaborative and develop tools and strategies to advance 

farmland preservation, climate resilience, and equity goals across 11 counties. Staff also requested 

authorization to allocate up to $50,000 over the two-year period as the required matching funds. The 

recommendation is to adopt the resolution authorizing Alameda LAFCO to serve as lead applicant; 

and authorize allocation of $50,000 for matching funds over two years; and authorize the Executive 

Officer to return to the Commission with a grant agreement, if awarded. 

 

Chair Johnson invited a Commission discussion. Commission discussion continued.  

 

 Chair Johnson invited public comments. There were none.   

 

Commissioner Balch motioned with a second from Commissioner Sblendorio to approve item 

8. It was further requested, though not part of the motion, that staff confirm participation from 

other Bay Area LAFCOs and seek contributions from them. Roll call requested: 

 

AYES: Balch, Faria, Hu (voting for Marchand), Haubert, Johnson, Miley, and Sblendorio 

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Marchand 

ABSTAIN: None  

 

 The motion was approved 7-0.  

 

 

9. CALAFCO BOARD NOMINATIONS AND VOTING DELEGATE – (Business) 

Executive Officer Jones announced that the California Association of Local Agency Formation 

Commissions (CALAFCO) will hold its Annual Conference from October 22-24 in San Diego. 

The recommendation is to appoint a voting delegate and alternate for the 2025 CALAFCO 

Annual Conference and provide staff with nominations for the CALAFCO Board of Directors. 

  

 

9



Alameda LAFCO 
Draft Minutes | July 10, 2025 

4 | Page 

 

 

Chair Johnson inquired if anyone was interested in attending the CALAFCO Annual Conference. 

Chair Johnson along with Commissioners Sblendorio and Rosen will be attending.    

 

Commissioner Haubert motioned with a second from Commissioner Balch to appoint Alternate 

Commissioner Rosen as the voting delegate and Commissioner Sblendorio as the alternate voting 

delegate.  Roll call requested: 

 

AYES: Balch, Faria, Hu (voting for Marchand), Haubert, Johnson, Miley, and Sblendorio 

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Marchand 

ABSTAIN: None  

 

The motion was approved 7-0. 

 

 

10. POLICY AND BUDGET COMMITTEE APPOINTMENT – (Business) 

Executive Officer Jones reported that LAFCO’s standing Policy and Budget Committee is 

responsible for reviewing and recommending policies, the annual work plan, and the annual 

budget to the Commission. The Committee meets at 2:00 p.m. on the first Thursday of 

even-numbered months at Dublin City Hall. Current members a r e  Commissioners 

Johnson and Woerner. Staff requests that the Commission appoint one additional member 

to fill the remaining vacancy. 

 

Commissioner Balch nominated Commissioner Mariellen Faria to serve on the Policy and 

Budget Committee with a second from Commissioner Sblendorio. Roll call requested: 

 

AYES: Balch, Faria, Hu (voting for Marchand), Haubert, Johnson, Miley, and Sblendorio 

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Marchand 

ABSTAIN: None  

 

The motion was approved 7-0. 

 

 

11. MATTERS INITIATED BY MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION 

₋ Commissioner Faria inquired about the transition to independence regarding the 

status of the request for proposals for HR and benefits services.  Executive Officer 

Jones responded that no proposals were received; however, the County’s Human 

Resource Services Department recommended a broker, and legal counsel is currently 

preparing the contract agreement.   

 

 

12. EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT  

₋ None 

 

 

10



Alameda LAFCO 
Draft Minutes | July 10, 2025 

5 | Page 

 

 

13. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

a. Current and Pending Proposals  

b. Progress Report on 2024-2025 Work Plan 

c. CALAFCO Update 

d. CALAFCO Annual Conference from October 22 – 24 in San Diego, California 

 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT OF REGULAR MEETING 

Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 2:52 p.m.  

 

 

Next Meetings of the Commission 

 

Policy and Budget Committee Meeting  

Thursday, August 7, 2025, at 2:00 p.m., Dublin City Hall, Bray Community Room  

Regular Meeting 

Thursday, September 11, 2025, at 2:00 p.m., Dublin City Hall, Council Chambers 

 

 

I hereby attest that the minutes above accurately reflect the Commission’s deliberations at its  

July 10, 2025, regular meeting. 

 

ATTEST, 

 
April L. Raffel 

Commission Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11



Blank for Photocopying 

612



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 4b 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 

SUBJECT: Approval of Meeting Dates for Calendar Year 2026 
 

 

The Commission will consider setting regular dates for the upcoming calendar year as required under 

policy. Regular meetings will be held on the second Thursday of each odd-numbered month, except 

for January 15th, 2026, which has been adjusted to accommodate the holiday schedule. As a result, the 

proposed meeting dates for Calendar Year 2026 will be on January 15th, March 12th, May 14th, July 9th, 

September 10th, and November 12th. 

 

Information 

 

It is the policy of Alameda LAFCO (“Commission”) to set its meeting schedule for the proceeding 

calendar year every September. All regular meetings are typically held on the second Thursday of each 

odd-numbered month, except for January 15th, 2026, which has been adjusted to accommodate the 

holiday schedule.  

 

January 15, 2026 Thursday 2:00 P.M. Dublin City Council Chambers Regular Meeting 

March 12, 2026 Thursday 2:00 P.M. Dublin City Council Chambers Regular Meeting 

May 14, 2026 Thursday 2:00 P.M. Dublin City Council Chambers Regular Meeting 

July 9, 2026 Thursday 2:00 P.M. Dublin City Council Chambers Regular Meeting 

September 10, 2026 Thursday 2:00 P.M. Dublin City Council Chambers Regular Meeting 

November 12, 2026 Thursday 2:00 P.M. Dublin City Council Chambers Regular Meeting 

 

Discussion 

 

This item is for the Commission to formally set meeting dates for the upcoming calendar year as 

required under policy. This includes considering anticipated workload and Commission preferences in 

holding meetings.  

 

Alternatives for Action 

 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

 

13



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4b 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Approve the following regular meeting dates on the second Thursday of each odd-numbered month, 

except for January 15th, 2026, which has been adjusted to accommodate the holiday schedule: January 

15th, March 12th, May 14th, July 9th, September 10th, and November 12th.  

 

Alternative Two:  

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction to staff for additional 

information as needed. 

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  
 

Procedures   

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the consent calendar. A 

successful motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the 

staff recommendation as provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 
Executive Officer 

 

 

Attachment: none 

 

14



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 4c 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Second Amendment to Agreement | Lamphier-Gregory   
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will consider amending its existing 

agreement with the firm Lamphier-Gregory for professional consulting services. Staff recommends to 

retroactively extend the contract term from its expiration on June 30, 2025 through June 30, 2026 with 

no additional contract cost.  

 

Information 

 

In March 2021, the Commission approved a three-year contract with Lamphier-Gregory to provide 

professional planning services to Alameda LAFCO on an as-needed basis. The agreement included 

options for up to three additional one-year extensions.  

 

The most recent contract term concluded on June 30, 2025. Staff is requesting retroactive approval of 

a one-year extension to maintain continuity of services while the Commission considers upcoming 

project workloads and staffing needs.  

 

Discussion 

 

Lamphier-Gregory has continued to support Alameda LAFCO’s planning functions on an as-needed 

basis, including review of complex boundary proposals and assistance with policy development. 

Extending the agreement term through June 30, 2026 will ensure uninterrupted access to these services 

while preserving existing contract terms.  

 

Staff requests the Commission approve and authorize the Executive Officer to sign an amendment to 

the agreement with Lamphier-Gregory to: 

 

1. Extend the term of the agreement through June 30, 2026. 

 

2. No increase to the contract’s not-to-exceed amount; expenditures will remain within the 

existing authorization. 

 

3. Sufficient funding is available within the FY 2025-2026 operating budget to cover anticipated 

tasks under this agreement.  

15



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4c 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

A draft amendment reflecting the retroactive term extension is provided as Attachment 1.  

 

Alternatives for Action  
 

 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Authorize the Executive Officer to sign an amendment to the agreement with Lamphier-Gregory to 

extend the term of the agreement through June 30, 2026 with no additional contract cost.  

 

Alternative Two: 

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction for more information 

as needed. 

 

Alternative Three: 

Deny the amendment to the agreement. 

 

Recommendation  

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  

 

Procedures 

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the consent calendar. A 

successful motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the 

staff recommendation as provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 
Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 
Executive Officer 

 
Attachments: 
1. Second Amendment to Agreement – Lamphier-Gregory 

2. Contract Agreement – Lamphier-Gregory 

 

 

16



PO/Contract # 

SECOND AMENDMENT AGREEMENT 

Reference is made to that contract entered into on the 15th day of March 2021, by and between 

the Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission, a public agency of the State of California, 

hereinafter “Alameda LAFCo,” and Lamphier-Gregory, a business duly qualified in the State of 

California, whose principal place of business is 1944 Embarcadero, Oakland, CA 95606, 

hereinafter the “Contractor,” and together, the “Parties” (“the Agreement”) and that certain First 

Amendment to the Agreement dated May 9, 2025. 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to extend the term of the existing Agreement such that Contractor 

may continue to provide services to Alameda LAFCo under the existing scope of work and at the 

previously agreed-upon rates; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as follows: 

Said Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

1. Extend the term of the agreement through June 30, 2026.

This second amendment is effective July 1, 2025. Except as specifically amended, the remaining 

provisions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this amendment. 

Alameda LAFCO Contractor 

Lamphier Gregory 

By: ______________________ By: _______________________ 

Rachel Jones, LAFCO Executive Officer Scott Gregory, President  

Date: ______________________ Date: ______________________ 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

_________________________ 

Andrew Massey, LAFCO Legal Counsel 

Address: 

4100 Redwood Road, STE 20A, No.    601, 

Oakland, CA  9619 

Taxpayer ID#:  94-3383314 

Attachment 1

17



DocuSign Envelope ID: 3C830273-EAOD-4C80-A849-BDF276864ED3 Attachment  2 

Page 1 of 11 

P.OJContract # __________ _

ALAMEDA LAFCO, ALAMEDA COUNTY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
STANDARD AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 3rd day of May 2021, by and between the 
ALAMEDA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION, a public agency of the State of 
California, hereafter called the uAlameda LAFCo", and Lamphier Gregory, a business duly 
qualified in the State of California, whose principal place of business is 1944 Embarcadero, 
Oakland, CA 94606, hereafter called the acontractor." 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, the Alameda LAFCo desires to obtain Professional Planning Services on an 
as-needed basis as d<escribed in Exhibit A hereto ("Services"); and 

WHEREAS, Contractor is professionally qualified to provide such services and is willing to 
provide same to Alameda LAFCo; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed that Alameda LAFCo does hereby retain Contractor to 
provide As-Needed Professional Planning Services, and Contractor accepts such engagement, 
on the terms and conditions hereinafter specified in this Agreement, the Additional provisions 
attached hereto, and the following described exhibits, all of which are incorporated into this 
Agreement by this reference: 

Exhibit A 
Exhibit B 
Exhibit C 

Definition of Services 
Payment Terms 
Insurance Requirements 

CONTRACT PERIOD will be from March 15, 2021 through June 30, 2024. This Agreement 
may be extended for three additional one-year periods, if mutually agreed by both parties 
hereto, in writing not less than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement. 

COMPENSATION: the Alameda LAFCo agrees to pay Contractor, pursuant to the terms set 
forth in Exhibit B, for services performed hereunder in a total amount not to exceed $25,000 
for the term of the current agreement, including all expenses and contingencies. 

General Terms and Conditions, pages 3 through 11, attached hereto constitute a part of this 
agreement. 

3 

18



19



20



21



22



23



Blank for Photocopying 

624



25



26



27



28



29



30



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 4d 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 

SUBJECT: Health Services Municipal Service Review | Request for Contract Extension 
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will consider amending its 

existing agreement with ADW Consulting, LLC. for professional consulting services to extend 

the contract through May 2026. 

 

Background 

Alameda LAFCO’s adopted 2024–2025 work plan includes preparation of a Health Services 

Municipal Service Review (MSR) and updates to related spheres of influence. In March 2025, the 

Commission awarded a contract to Progressive Healthcare, Inc. & ADW Consulting, LLC to conduct 

the MSR, with an initial six-month contract period and a not-to-exceed amount of $32,000 for Phase I 

focusing on the Washington Township Healthcare District. 

The consultants began work earlier this year and held an initial kickoff meeting with Washington 

Township’s government affairs liaison. Since that time, consultants have submitted a detailed data 

request and proposed a site visit to meet with the District’s executive team. 

Discussion 

 

To date, Washington Township Healthcare District has not provided the requested data or committed 

to a schedule for review. Despite multiple follow-up efforts, the lack of timely responses has stalled 

progress on the agency profile and delayed next steps for the broader Health Services MSR. 

Given these circumstances, staff and the consultants recommend that the Commission authorize an 

eight-month contract extension. This extension will allow sufficient time for: 

• Washington Township Healthcare District to provide the outstanding data; 

• A site visit with the District’s CEO and executive team to take place; 

• Completion of the Phase I agency profile; and 

• A clear path to proceed with subsequent phases covering Eden Township Healthcare District, 

City of Alameda Healthcare District, and the Emergency Medical Services County Service 

Area. 

 

31



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4d 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Financing 

 

The extension would not increase the previously authorized not-to-exceed contract amount of $32,000 

for Phase I. Instead, it allows additional time for deliverables to be completed within the existing 

budget. 

 

Alternatives for Action 

 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Authorize an eight-month extension of the Health Services MSR Phase I contract with Progressive 

Healthcare, Inc. & ADW Consulting, LLC, extending the contract term through May 2026. 

 

Alternative Two:  

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction to staff for additional 

information as needed. 

 

Alternative Three:  

Decline to approve contract extension. 

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  
 

Procedures   

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the consent calendar. A 

successful motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the 

staff recommendation as provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 
Executive Officer 

 

 

Attachment:  

1. Contract Extension  
2. Contract Agreement with Progressive Healthcare, Inc. & ADW Consulting, LLC 

32



PO/Contract # 

AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

Reference is made to that contract entered into on the 14th day of March 2025, by and between 

the Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission, a public agency of the State of California, 

hereinafter “Alameda LAFCO,” and ADW Consulting, Inc., a business duly qualified in the 

State of California, whose principal place of business is 1640 10th Avenue, Unit 305, San Diego, 

CA 92101, hereinafter the “Contractor,” and together, the “Parties” (“the Agreement”). 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to extend the term of the existing Agreement such that Contractor 

may continue to provide services to Alameda LAFCO under the existing scope of work and at 

the previously agreed-upon rates; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as follows: 

Said Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

1. Extend the term of the agreement through May 11, 2026.

This amendment is effective September 11, 2025. Except as specifically amended, the remaining 

provisions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this amendment. 

Alameda LAFCO Contractor 

ADW Consulting, Inc. 

By: ______________________ By: _______________________ 

Rachel Jones, LAFCO Executive Officer Adam Wilson 

Date: ______________________ Date: ______________________ 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

_________________________ 

Andrew Massey, LAFCO Legal Counsel 

Address: 

1640 10th Avenue, Unit 305 

San Diego, CA 92101 

Taxpayer ID#:  

Attachment 1

33



flLr.lLlurrcllt I

Pageiofll

P.0./Contract #

ALAMEDA LAFCO, ALAMEDA COUNTY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA
STANDARD AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEIIENT, made and entered into this 14th day of March, 20ZS by and between
the ALAMEDA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISS|ON, a pubtic agency of the
State sf California, hereafter called the "Alameda LAFCO", and ADW Consulting, LLC., a
business duly qualified in the State of California, whose principal place of business 1640 1Oth

Avenue, Unit305, San Diego, CA 92101 is hereafter called the "Contractor "

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Alameda LAFCO desires to obtain professional consulting services
related to the completion of the State-mandated sphere of influence updates and municipal
service reviews for health services as described in Exhibit A attached hereto ("Services"); and

WHEREAS, Contractor is professionally qualified to provide such services; and

WHEREAS, the Alameda LAFCO desires to retain and employ the services of Contractor
in connection with such work, and Contractor is agreeable with such employment.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed that the Alameda LAFCO does hereby retain and
employ Contractor to provide the Services in connection with such work, and Contractor accepts
such employment, on the terms and conditions hereinafter specified in this Agreement and
additional provisions attached hereto, and the following described exhibits, all of which are
incorporated into this Agreement by this reference:

Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C

Scope of Services
Payment Terms
I nsurance Requirements

CONTRACT PERIOD willbe a continuance from Ir/arch 14,2025 through September 14,ZOZS,
This Agreement may be extended by mutual agreement of both parties hereto in writing not less
than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement.

COMPENSATION: The Alameda LAFCO agrees to pay Contractor, pursuant to the terms set
forth in Exhibit B, for services performed hereunder in a total amount not to exceed $32,000 for
the term of the current agreement, including all expenses, contingencies, and other
miscellaneous expenses.

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS, pages 3 through 11 attached hereto constitute a part of this
agreement.

Attachment 2

34



i-'i:;l* i l.:i'i i

lhi WiTNfS$ l\il-{[Rf Cil, lir* parti*s hereto have execilteil this aSr*sni*nt a$ sf rhe day and
year first ah0v* writteft.

ALAhlfiD,ei LP^f CC

:'
-'a 'j

Rachei .lone*
LAFC* TXECUTIVT *':TI*ER

e fir{TaAf r*ft

CCNTRACTOft

A{.;1f,4 b. WtLJ.^5

o+1"+{"*

Tit!* 7&-e< t }r?,n<* FoJrt}rg:(z--I
1S40 lSh Av*nus, Unit 305
$an Diego, CA $2"101

6L- lbon647

iii-'l-, i..,-;',rD A$ T* f.JR$.4

.-ititi:w l";l;i,6#y /
L-Ai:ri,li i, iGA i"- rl tl:r-J l"j $j ['.

I hereby certity rrnder penalty of perjury that the Hxeeutive Officer af the Alarneda IAFCO was
duiy auth*rized to execut* this donument sn behalf af the Alameda LAFCo by its $nratl
eontracting Autharity Palicy on ll4arch 13, 2025

Date ATTT$T

Aiam*da LAFC()
e ounty of Aiarneda
$tate of 0aiifornia

A-_ .--

Address

Tax Fayer l"D #

l',r.

35



36



1

Page3ofll

ADDITION AL PROVISIONS

EMPI-OYER/EMPLOYEE RILATIONSHIP: No relationship of'ernpkryerand employee is creatcd

by this Agreement, it being understood that Contractor shall act hereunder as an independent
Contractor; that Contractor shall not have an1, clairn under this Agreement or otherwise against the

Alameda LAFCO for seniority, vacation time. vacation pay, sick leave, personal tirne off. overtime,
health insurance, medical care, hospital care. retirernent berrefits, Social Security. disability, Workers'
Compensation, or unemployrxent insurance beneflts. civil service protection, or employee benefits of
any kind; that Contractor shall be solely liable for and obligated to pay directly all applicable taxcs,
including, but not limited to, Federal and State income taxes. and in connection therewith Contractor
shall indemnify and hold the Alameda I-AFCO harmless from any and all liability which the

Alameda LAFCO may incur because of Contractor's failure to pay such taxes: that Contractor does,

by this Agreement, agree to perform his/her said work and firnctions at all times in strict accordance
with currenlly approved methods and practices in hisiher ficld and that the sole interest of the

Alanieda LAFCO is to ensure that said service shall be perfbrmed and rendered in a competent,
cfficient. timely and satisfactor,v., manner and in accordancc r,vith the standards reqLrired by the agency

concerned. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Alanreda LAFCO detennines that pursuant to state

and federal law Contractor is an employee f,or purposes of income tax lvithholding, the Alameda
LAFCO shall, upon two rveeks notice to Contractor rvithhold from the payntents to Contractor
hereunder federal and state income taxes and pay said sums over to the Federal and State
governments,

I-lOl.D HARMLESS/NDEMNIFICATION: 'i'o the fullest extent permittcd by lau,. Contractor shall

hold harrnless. defend and indemnify Alameda L,AFCO, its Commissioners, employees and agents

fi'orn and against any anci all clainrs, losses. darnages, liabilities and expenses. including but not

iimitcd to attomeys' fees, arising out of or resulting from the performance of services under this
Agreernent, provided that any such claim, loss. darnage, liability or expense is attributable to bodily
injury. sickness, diseasc, death or to injury to or destruction of propcrty, including the loss therefrom,

or to an)' violation of federal, state or municipal law or regr"rlation. which arises out of or is any way

connected with the performance of this agreement (collectively "Liabilities") except where such

Liabilities are caused solely by tlie negligence or williul miscondr.rct of any indemnitee. Alamecla
LAFCO may participate in the deI'ense of an1.' such clainr without relieving Contractor of any

obligation hereuncler. The obligations of this indemnity shall be fol the full atnount of all damage to
Alameda I.AFCO, including delbnse costs. and stiall not bc limited by any iirsurance lirnits,

INSLJRANCE AND BOND: Contriiotor shall at all tirnes during the ternr of the Agreement with
Alameda LAFCO maintain in fbrce those insurance policies as clesignated in the aftached Exhibit C,

"lnsurance Requirements," and wiil comply with all those requirements as stated herein,

V/ORKERS' COMPENSATION: Contractor shall provide Workers' Compensation insurance at

Contractor's ow,n cost and expense arrd further, neither the Contractor nor i1s carrier shall be entitled
to recovcr from the Alameda I.AFCO any costs, settlements, or expenses of Workers' Compensation
claims arising out of this agreement.

5. C]ONFORMITY WITI-I I,AW AND SAFETY

Contractor shall observe and comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, codes and
regulations of governmental agencies, including federal, state, municipal, and local governing
bodies, having jurisdiction over the scope of services or any part hereof, including all
provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1979 and all amendrlcnts thereto. and

J

4

A.

37



B

Page 4 ol't l

altapplicable federal, state. municipal, and looal safety regulations. All services pcrformed by

Contractor must be in accordance rvith thcse laws. ordinanccs. codcs and regtrlations.

Contractor shall indemrril'y and hold Alarneda LAFCO harmless fionr any and all liability,
iines, penalties and consequences from any noncompliancc or violations of such laivs,

ordinances. codes and regulations. lf a provisiotr of this Agreerrent is found to be invalid, the

pafiies legally, comtnercially, and practicably can continue this Agreernent without that

provision, and the remainder of this Agreement shall contintre in force and effect unless alr

essential purpose of this Agreemcnt would he defeated Lry the loss of srrclr provision, ln the

event any o1'the terms, conditions. or provisions of this Agleement are held to be illegal or

othenvlse unenforceable, such term, condition or provision shall be deerned severable from the

remainder of this Agreement and shall not caLlse any other pad or provision of tlris Agreemetrt

to be illegal or unenforceable.

Accidents: If death, serious personal injury or sLrbstantial property damage occurs in

connection with the performance r:f this agreernent, Contractor shall immediately notify

Alanieda I-AFCO by telephone. Contractor shall promptly subnrit to Alarleda LAFCO a
rvritten report. irt such form as rnay be required by Alarneda LAFC0 of all accidents wltich

occur irr connection rvith this Agreertetit. This report tnust include the follorving informatiott:
(i ) name and address of the injured or deceased person(s); (2) name and address of Contractor's

subcontractor, if any; (3) name and address of Contractor's liability insurance carrie r; and ('1) a

detailed description of accident and whether any of LAFCO's equipment, tools, material' or

staff were involved. Contractor further agrees that it shall take alI reasonable steps to preservc

all physical evidence and inforrnation rvhich may be relevant to accidents or circumstances

surrounding a potential claim, while rrrairrtaining public safety- Contractor shall provide

Alameda LAFCO ihe opporlunity to rcview and inspect such evidence, including the scene of
the accident

PAYMENT: Payntent to Contractor will he made only' upon presentation of proper invoice by

Contractor subject to the approval of Alameda LAFCO, and in accordance with this Agrecrnent and

its E.xhibit B.

ROYALTII,S AND INVENTIONS: The Alameda LAITCO shall havc a royalty-free, exclusive and

irrevocable license to rcproducc, publish and rtse the rcsults produced in the course olor undcr this

Agreementl and Contractor shall not publish any such material relating to Alameda l-AFCO without

prior consent of Alameda LAI'CO.

CONFIDENI'lALIl"Y OF INFORMATION: Confidential infbrrnation is dehned as all infornration

disclosed to Contractor rvhich relates to Alatleda LAFCO's past, present, and future activitics, as

well as activities underthis Agreentent. Contractor r.vill hold all such information with the samc

degree of care u,hich Contractor utilizes to protect its own data of a sirrrilar nature' Upon

canccllation or expiration of this Agrcement. Contractor rvill return to Alan:eda L,AFCO all written
or descriptivri nlatter which contains any such conljdential informatiotr'

CONFLiCT OF INTERIIS'l: No offlcer. mcntber. or cmplovee of Alarreda LAFCO and no member

of its governing body shall have any pecuniary interest, dircct or indirect, in this Agrecment or thc

proceeds thereof. No Contractor, nor any member olContractor's family shall serve on tite Alameda

I-AFCO, or hold any such position rvhich either by rule, practice or action nomitrates, recotrrtnends.

or supervises Contractor's operations, or authorizes funding to Contractor' Contractor shall

imrnediately bring to Alanreda LAFCO's attention any situation in which its client has, or is
reasonably likely to have an application or othet' matter pending before Alarneda LAFCO. The

6

7

I

9

38



Page5ofll

provisiorrs o{'this Agreernent are not exclusive. and t}rus Alartreda LAFCo may at its discretion

appoint a different firm to scrve as its sonsultant in the event of a conflict. Contractor agrees not to

assigrr any olthe key personnel idcntified in Exhibit A to any matte r that is, or is likely to be pending

belore Alameda LAFCO regardless of whether Alameda LAFCO in its discretion decides to hire

another firm to avoid a conflict.

10. USE OF ALAMEDA i-AFCO PROPERTY: Contractor sltall not use Alameda LAFCO premises or

propefty (including equipment, instruments and supplies) or personnel firr any pulpose other than in

the performance of his/her obligations under this Agreement.

I 1. EQUAL EMPI-OYlvlENT OPPORTUNITY PRACTICES/PROViSIONS; Contractor assures that it

will cornpiy with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of I964 and that no person shall, on the grounds of
race, creed, color, disability, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, age, religion, Vietram era Veteran's

status, political affiliation, or any other non-merit factor, be excludcd fiom participation in, be denied the

bene i'its of, or be otheru'ise subjected to discrirnination under this Agreement.

Contractor shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for applicants for ernployrnent placed as

a result of this Agreement, state that it is an "Equal Opportunity Employer" or that all qualified

applicants rvill receive consideration for employ"ment lvithout regard to their race, creed, color,

disability, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, age, religion, Vietnam era Veteran's status,

political affiliation, or any other non-tnerit factor.

Contractor shall, if requested to so do Lry Alameda LAFCO, certify that it has not, in the

perfonnance of this Agreement. discriminated against applicants orernployees because of their

race. creed, color, disabilit,r,, sex. sexual orientation, national origirr, age. rcligion. Vietnam era

Veteran's status, political affiliation, or any other non-merit fact<ir.

lf requested to do so by Aiameda LAFCO. Contractor shall provide Alarrreda LAFCO with

access to copies of all of its records pertainirrg or relating to its employmcnt practices, exceptto

the extcnt such records or portions ofsucli rccords are confidential or privileged under State or

I:ederal larv.

Contractor shall recruit vigorously and encourage rninority- and u'otnen-orvned businesses to bid

its subcontracts.

E. Nothing contained in this contract shall be cottstrued itr any mantrer so as to require or permit any

act which is prohibited by law.

l'he Contractor shali include the provisions set lbrth in paragraphs A tlrrough E (above) in each

of its subcontracts.

12, ASSICNMENTOFCONTRAC'f: Nothingcontainedintl-risAgreemetrtshalllrecorrstruedtopermit
assignrnent or transfer by Corrtractor of any rights under this Agrcement and such assignment or

transl-er is cxpressll' prohibited and void utrless otherwise approved in r.r'riting b;, Alameda LAFCO.

11. DRTJC-FREE WORKPT-ACB: Corrtractor and Contractor's employees shall corrrply with Alameda
LAICO's polic-v- of maintaining a drug-free rvorkplace. Neither Contractor nor Contractor's
employees shall unlawfully manufuoturc, dislributc, dispense, possess or use colltrolled substances,

as defined in 2l U.S. Code section 812, includirrg tlarijuana, heroin, cocaine, and amphetamines. at

any LAITCO facility or work site. IlContractor or an,v employee of Coutractor is convicted or pleads

A

u

C

F

D.

39



Page6ofll

nolo contendere to a criminal drug statute vir:lation occurring at an Alameda LAIjCO facility or work

site. thc Contractor within five days therealier shall notify the Executive Ofilcer of Alameda
LAFCO. Violation of this provision shall constitute a tnater;al breach of this Agreement.

14. FEDERAL AND STAI'E AUDITS: Until the expiration o1'fir,c (5) years after the furnishing olany
services pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor shall rnake available. upon written request, to the

Federallstate government or any of thcir duly authorized representatives. this Agreernent, atrd such

books, documents, and records ofContractor that are necessary to certify the nature and extcnt ofthe
reasonable cost of services to Alameda LAFCO" lf Contractor enters into any Agreement with an,v

related orgarrization to provide services pursuant to this Agreement witlr value or cost ol'$ 10,000 or

more over a twelve-month period, such Agreernent shall conlain a clause to the effect that until the

expiration of five years after the furnishing ol'serviccs pursuant to such subcontract, the related

organization shall make available. upon written request, to tirc FederaliState governrnent or any oi'
their duly authorized representatives, the subcontract, and btloks, documents and records of such

organizationthatarenecessarytovcri$,thetratureandextentofsuchcosts.'l'hisparagraphshallbc
olnol'orceandeffectwhenarrdi{'itisnotrequiredbylar.v. AlarnedaLAFCOshallhaveaccessto
Contractor's finarrcial rccords for purposes olauditirrg payments made to Conlractor hereLinder. Such

records shall be complete and available for audit ninety'(90) days after final payment is made to

Llontractor hereunder and shall be retained and available for audit ptlrposes for five (5) years after

said final payment hereunder.

15. TIME IS OF 1'l-lE ESSENCE in cach and allof the provisions olthis agreement.

16. AMENDIVIENT: No change, alteration, variation, modification of the tcrms. terminaticin or

discharge of this Agreement shall be valid urrless made in writing and signed tly the parties hereto.

17. ASSURANCE OF PIIRFORMANC'E,: II'at any time Alameda LAFCO believes Contractormay not

be adequately perfonning its obligations under this Agreernent^ that Contractor may fail to corrplete

the Services as required by this Agreement, or has provided written notice of obrserved deficiencies in

Contractor's performance, dameda LAFCO nray request fi"om Contractor prompt wriften assurances

of performance and a mitten plan to correct the observed deficiencies in Contractor's perfotmance.

Contractor shatl provide such written assurances atrd written plan w'ithin ten (10) calerrdar days o1'

receipt of Alameda L.AFCO's written request and shall thereafter diligently colnmence and fully
perlorm such u,ritten plan. Contractor acktrowledges and agrees that any failure tn provide written
assurances ancl a written plan to correct observed deficierrcics, in the required time, to diligently
commence and fully perfonn such written plan, is a materiat breach under this Agreement'

18. KEY PERSONNE,L: Contractr:r shall identify hirnself as kev pet'sonnel assigrred to perforrn scrvices
in Exhibit A and obtain Alameda LAICO approval olany substitution by the Contractor of key
per.sonnel,

19. SLJBCONTRACTORS: Contractor shall identify and obtain Alameda LAFCO approval of all

subcontractors. Nothing provided herein shall create an)' obligation on thc part of Alarneda LAFCO
to pay or to see to the payrnent by Conlractor of any monies to any subcontractor. supplier or vendor,

nor create any relationship in colttract rrr othenvisc, express or implied between any such

subcorltractor, supplier or vcndor and Alameda LAlrCO. Approval by Alarneda LAFCO of any

subcontraL.tor shall not constitllte a rvaiver o{'any right ol'Alameda LAI'-L-O to reject defective work,

material or equipntent. not iu compliance rvith the requiretnents of this Agrcement,

40



PageTofll

20. CHOICE OIr LAW: This Agreement, and any dispure arising from the relationship between the
parties to this Agreerrrenr, shall be governed by the laws of the State of California. cxclucling an.v
laws that direct the application of another jurisdiction's larvs, and its courts shall have jurisdiction
(but not exclusive jurisdiction) to hear and determine all questions relating ro this Agreemcnt.

21. WAIVER: Any failure of a party to asseft any right under rhis Agreement shall not consrirure a
u,aiver cir a termination of that right, under this Agreement or an,v provisions of this Agreement.

22. ENTIRE ACREEMHNI': 'l'his Agreement. including all anachmenrs, exhibits. and any other
documents specifically incorporated into this Aereement, shall constitute the entire Agrecment
between Alarneda l-AITCO and Contractor relating to the subject matter of this Agrecment. As rrsed
herein. Agreement refers to any documents incorporated herein by reference and any exhibits or
attachmcnts. This Agreement supersedes and merges all previous understandings. and all other
agreements, rvritten or oral, between the parties and sets forth tlte cntire understanding of the parrics
regarding the subject matter thereof'. The Agreernent may not be rnodiiled except by a writtcn
document signed by both parties,

23 TERMINA1'ION: Alamcda LAFCO rnay terminate this Agreement with or rvithout cause by
providing thirty (30) dhys notice, in rvriting, to the Contracror. Upon the expirarion of said rrotice.
this Agreernent shall become of no lurther force or effect whatsocver and each of the parties hereto
shall be relieved and discirarged here from. Alameda LAFCo rnay terminate at any tinre without
notice upon material breach of the terms of this Agreement and/or in the event that Alameda LAF CO
determines that the Contractor's performarrce is substandard or unsatisfactory.

24. SURVIVAL: Thc ohrligations of this Agreement, which by their nature would contirrLre beyond the
termination or expiration of the Agreerncnt, inclr"rding without limitation, the obligations regarding [-lold
Hamlessllndemnification (paragraph 2). Confidentiality o{'lnfornration (paragraph 9), and Conflict of
Interest (paragraph 10), shatl survive ternrination or expiration.

25. NOTICES: Allnotices"requests,demands.orothcrcommLrnicationsundertliisAgreernentshallbe
in writing. Notices shall be given for all purposes as follorvs:

Personal delivery: When persorrally delivered to thc recipierrt, notices are effective on
delivery.

First Class Mail; When mailed first class to the last address of the recipient known to the party
giving notice, notice is eff'ective three rniiil deliver;, days afler dcposit in a United States Postal
Sen,ice office or rnailbox.

Certifled Mai[: When mailed certified mail, return receipt requested, notice is effective on
reccipt. ildelivery is confinned by a return receipt.

Overnight Delivery: When delivered by overnighr delivery (Fedcral Express/United parcel
Sen,ice/l)Hl. WorldWide Express/etc.) with charges prepaid or charged ro the sender,s
accounl, noticc is effective on deliverv, i1'delivery is confirmed by the delivery service.

Telex or facsin, iie trarrsmission: When sent by, telex or fax to the last telex or fax number oi'
the recipient knor.vn to the party giving norice, notice is eflbctive on receipt. providcd that (a) a
duplicate copy of the notice is prornptlll given by flrst-class or cerlified maiI or by overnight
delivery, or (b) the receiving party delivcrs a written confirmation of receipt. Any notice given

a

a

a

a

a

41



PageSofil

by telex or fax shall be deerned reccived c-rn the next business day ilis reoeived alicr 5:00 p.rn.

(recipients tirne) or on a non-business day.

Adclresses for purpose of giving notice are as follows

To LAFCO Alameda LAFCO
224 West Winton, Suite 110

Hayward. CA 94544

'fo Corrtractor' AII W ClonsLr lting, LLC.,
1640 l0'h Avenue, Unit 305

San Diego, CA 92101

Any correctly addressed notice that is relused, unclairneC, or undeliverable because olan act or otnission

of the party to be notified shall be deemed effective as olthe first date that said notice rvas refused,

unclaimed, or deemed undeliverable by the postal authorities, tnessenger' or ovemight delivery service.

Any parti,'may change its address or telex or lacsimile nutnber b1'giving the otlrer party notice o1'tile

change in any manner permitted by tlris Agreement.

IEND OF ADDITIONAL PROVISIONSI

42



Page9oflt

EXHIBIT A. SCOPE OF SERVICES

The Consultant will prepare an agency profile for tlre Washington l-lealthcare District and may include

the following topics as part of their evaluation:

1 ) Strategic Overvierv:
. Review of the Healthcare f)istrict's mission, vision, and strategic objectives.
. Exantination of tl're District's organizational structure, governance framework and decision-

making processes.

' Outline the regulatorl' flntr',.*ork for Healthcare Districts

2) Stakeholder Engagement:
. Irritial engagement with key stakeholders. irrcluding board members, healthcare professionals,

community representatives and any other interested stakeholders.
. Gather input and feedback on each District's services and performance'

3) Service Assessment:
. Evaluation of the range of services provided by the Healthcare District
. Analysis of service utilization, access, allordability, and quality of care for patients and

community tnembers,

4) Financial Review:
. l{igh-level review ofeach District's financial hsalth, revenue sources, expenditure, and debt.
. Identificatiorr of any major financial challerrges nou'and into the future (i.e. re irnbursemettl)
. Examinatiott and oomparison betrveen both public and private funding mechanisms for each

District.

5) Written Determinations under Covernment Code Section 56430. LAFCOs must adopt a r'vritten

determinaticin lor each of the following considerations:
. Growth and population projections of the af'lected area
. The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated cornmLrnities within or'

contiguous to the sphere of iniluence
. Presenl and planned capacitl, of public facilities. adequacy o{'public services, and infrastructure

needs or deficiencies
. Financial ability of agencies to provide services
. Status ol'and opportunities fbr shared facilities

' Accountability' fcrr community service needs, irrcluding governmental structure and operational
efficiencies

. Any other matter related to efibctive or efllcient servicc delivery, as required by Comrrnission
policy

4. Deliverables
Develop Key Perforrnance lndicators

J'he Consultant will devclop a IVISR framework that identifies kcy performance indicators mucial to

the healthcare districts in Alameda County and with respect to their core municipal service lunctions.
as well as an,v related subclasses to those core service l'unctions.

43



Page 10ofl1

EXHIBTT B. CONTIIACI PAYMEN] TERMS

l. The Alameda LAFCO will pay Cotttractor for services provided herein. upon subrnittal of an

invoice and sutnmary repod of services perlormed pursuant to this agreernent. All services will be

performed at the direction o{, and with the prior arrtircrrization of'. the LAITCo Executive Officer'

lnvoices rvill be approvcd by the Alarneda LAFCo Exccutive Officer. Payments under the terms of
this Agreernent shall not exceed $32,000. This amoutrt irrcludes all administrative expenses and

costs, travel expenses and corttingencies, Forthe purposes assigned in the proposal, the billing rates

are as listed in the firrn's proposal and shorvn below'

Jirn Price, $200 per hour
Adam Wilson, $200 per hour

160 hours total olwork

2. Payments under the terms of this Agreement shalI not exceed $32,000. 'l'his amount includes: one

agency proflle draft in response to LAFCO staff review. all travel expenses, contingencies, and

other miscel latreous eKpenses.

3. The term of this Agreement is March 13,2025 to Septembcr 14,2025

44



ragellolll

EXHIBIT C. MINIMUM INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

Without limiting any other obligation or liability under this nq';u*tnt' the Contrachr' at its sole cost and expense' shall secure and keep in force

during the entire term of the Agreement or longer' 
"";;th'specilled 

Uetow' ttre following minimum insurance coverage' limits and

endorseme nts:

TYPE OF INSURANCE COVERAGES

B Commercial or Business Automobile Liability

All owned vehicles, hired or leased vehicles' non-owned, borrowed

and permissive uses. Personal Automobile Liability is acceptable ior'

Commercial General LiabilitY

Premises Liabi{ity; Products and Completed Operations; Contractual

" Lleflli!.;lersonallnlu ., and A{v9!51n9!iability -

MINIMTJM LIMIT$

$1,000,000 Per occurrence (CSL)

Bodiiy lnjury and ProPerlY Damage

$1,000,000 Per occurrence (CSL)

Any Auto

Bodily lnjurY and ProPerlY Damage

A

D EnCorsements and Conditigns:

1. ADDITIONAL INSURED: All insurance required above with the exception of Commercial or Business Automobile Liability

Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability, shall be endorsed to name as additional insured; the Alameda Local Agency

Formation Commiiiron (LAFCo), the individui membersthereof' and aliAlameda I-AFCO officers' agents' employe€Sl - ^^ .

volunteers, and reoresentatives. The Additional lnsured endorsement shail be at least as broad as ISO Form Number CG 20 38

04 13.

2. DURATION OF COVERAGE: All required insurance shall be naintained during the entire term of the Agreement ln addition'

lnsurance policies and coverage(s) written on a claims-made basis shall be maintained during the entire term of the Agreement

and until 3 years foliowing ttre iatei of termination of the Agreement and acceptance of all work provided under the Agreement'

with the retroactive date Jf said insurance (as may be appiicable) concurrent with the commencement of activities pursuant to

this Agreemenl.

3. REDUCTION OR LIMIT OF OBLIGATION: All insurance policies' including excess and umbrella insurance policies shall include

an endorsement and be primary and non-contributory and will not seek contribuiion from any other insuranqe (or self- insurance)

available to Alameda LAFCO. fne primary and non-iontribulory endorsement shall be at least as broad as lS0 Form 20 01

04 13. Pursuant to the provisions of thls Agreement insurance effected or procured by the Contractor shall not reduce or Iimit

Contractor's contractual obligation to indemnify and defend the lndemnified Parties'

4 INSURER FINANCIAL RATING: insurance shall be rnaintained through an insurer with a A M Best Rating of no less than A:Vil

or equivalent, shall be adrnitted to the State of California unless othenrvise waived by Risk lVanagement' and with deductible

amounts acceptable to Alameda LAFCO. Acceptance 0f Contractor's insurance by Alameda LAFCo shall not relieve or decrease

the liability of Contractor hereunder, Any deductible or self-insured retention amount or other similar obligation under the policies

shall be the sole responsibility of the Contractor

5. SUBCONTRACTORS: Contractor shall include all subcontractors as an insured (covered parly) under its policies or shall verify

that the subcontractor, under its own policies and endorsemenls, has complied with the insurance requirements in this

Agreement, inciuding this Exhibit The additional lnsured endorsement shall be at least as broad as lS0 Form Number CG 20

individuai contractors with no transrortation ortraulin : related

C Workers'Cornpensation (WC) and Employers Liability (EL) WC: Statutory Limits

EL: $1,000,0,00 per accident for bodil' injury or disease
Re ,uired for all contractors with em ees

38 04 13

6. JOINT VENTURES: lf Contractor is an association, partnership or other joint business venture, required insurance shall be

provided by one of the following methods:

- Separate insurance policies issued for each indivioualentity, with each entity inciuded as a "Named lnsured" {covered

party) or al minimum named as an 'Additional lnsured" on the othe/s policies Coverage shall be at least as broad as ln the

ISO Forms named above.

- Joint insurance progtam with the association, partnership or other joint business venture included as a "l"lamed lnsured"'

7 . CANCELLATION OF INSURANCE: All insurance sha{l be required to provide thirty (30) days advance written notice to

Alameda LAFCo of cancellation,

I CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE: Before commencing operations under this Agreement, Contractor shall provide Cenificate(s)

of lnsurance and applicable insurance endorsements, in form and satisfactory,to Alameda 'LAFCO, evidencing that all required

insurance coverage is in effect, Alameda LAFCO reserves the rights to require the Contractor to provide complete, celtified

copies of all required insurance policies. The required cerlificate(s) and endorsements must be sent as set lorth ln the Notices

provision.

Cerlificate C-1
Form 2001-8fiev 02126114)

45



Blank for Photocopying 

646



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 4e 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 

SUBJECT: Contract Amendment for Accounting Services | Expanded Scope  
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will consider amending its 

existing contract agreement with consultant and public finance officer, Ms. Alyssa Schiffmann, 

to expand the scope of professional accounting services. The proposed amendment adds 

responsibilities for (1) establishing a payroll system for LAFCO staff, and (2) creating new 

financial and accounting policies to support LAFCO’s transition to administrative and fiscal 

independence. The amendment also increases the contract amount by $10,000, for a total not-to-

exceed amount of $35,000, to cover the expanded scope of services. 

 

Background 

 

In March 2025, the Commission approved a 24-month contract (not-to-exceed $25,000) with Ms. 

Schiffmann to provide professional accounting and bookkeeping services. The original scope focused 

on establishing a Chart of Accounts, reconciling County financials, and supporting independent 

reporting functions.  

 

As Alameda LAFCO prepares to transition fully from County systems by January 1, 2026, additional 

support is required to ensure operational readiness. Specifically, LAFCO must: 

 

▪ Implement an independent payroll system, including pay codes, reporting, and internal 

approval processes; and 

 

▪ Adopt financial and accounting policies tailored to LAFCO’s needs, including reserves, 

purchasing authority, payroll administration, and reporting requirements. 

 

These tasks go beyond the original scope and require expanding the consultant’s role.  

 

 

 

 

 

47



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4e 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Discussion 

 

This item is for the Commission to consider the proposed amendment that would authorize Ms. 

Schiffmann to do the following: 

 

▪ Coordinate with LAFCO’s benefits consultant and payroll provider to set up payroll 

independent of the County. 

 

▪ Draft financial and accounting policies for Commission consideration, supporting long-term 

accountability and internal controls.  

 

To complete this work, the contract amount would increase by $10,000, bringing the total not-to-

exceed value to $35,000. Staff believes this additional investment is critical to safeguard LAFCO’s 

financial transition and to ensure compliance with state requirements. 

 

Financing 

 

Adequate funding is budgeted in the FY 2025–2026 operating budget under consultant services to 

support LAFCO’s independence transition. The proposed amendment increases the contract amount 

by $10,000, for a total not-to-exceed of $35,000. This cost can be absorbed within the current fiscal 

year budget allocation for consultant work, and no additional appropriation is required. 

 

Alternatives for Action 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Amend the contract with Ms. Alyssa Schiffmann to: 

1. Expand the scope of services to include payroll setup and financial/ accounting policy 

development; and 

 

2. Increase the contract amount by $10,000 for a new not-to-exceed total of $35,000; and 

 

3. Authorize the Executive Officer, with legal counsel’s advice, to finalize and execute the 

amendment. 

Alternative Two:  

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction to staff for additional 

information as needed. 

 

48



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4e 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

3 | P a g e  

 

Alternative Three:  

Decline to approve contract extension. 

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  
 

Procedures   

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the consent calendar. A 

successful motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the 

staff recommendation as provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 
Executive Officer 

 

 

Attachment:  

1. Contract Extension  
2. Contract Agreement with Ms. Alyssa Schiffmann, Contract Bookkeeper 

49



Blank for Photocopying 

650



PO/Contract # 

AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

Reference is made to that contract entered into on the 14th day of July 2025, by and between the 

Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission, a public agency of the State of California, 

hereinafter “Alameda LAFCo,” and Ms. Alyssa Schiffmann, a consultant duly qualified in the 

State of California, whose principal place of business is 21A Rowland Court, San Anselmo, CA 

94960, hereinafter the “Contractor,” and together, the “Parties” (“the Agreement”). 

WHEREAS, the Agreement included professional consulting services for accounting services 

that is a part of LAFCO's transition plan for operational independence; and 

WHEREAS, Alameda LAFCO desires to expand the scope of work to include advice and 

assistance in implementing a payroll system and drafting proposed financial and accounting 

policies, which will necessitate increasing the not-to-exceed amount of the Agreement to fund 

the additional phase of the work; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as follows: 

Said Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

1. Contractor shall as additional scope of work:

a. As needed, provide advice and assist with implementing an independent payroll

system, including incorporation of pay codes, reporting, and internal approval

processes; and

b. Develop for Alameda LAFCo’s review and approval financial and accounting

policies tailored to LAFCO’s needs, including reserves, purchasing authority,

payroll administration, and reporting requirements.  Contractor shall deliver draft

financial and accounting policies, and any required revisions thereto, in

accordance with a schedule to be developed by the parties.

2. Increase the contract amount by $10,000 for a total contract not-to-exceed amount of

$35,000.

This amendment is effective September 11, 2025. Except as specifically amended, the remaining 

provisions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this amendment. 

Alameda LAFCO Contractor 

Alyssa Schiffmann 

By: ______________________ By: _______________________ 

Rachel Jones, LAFCO Executive Officer Alyssa Schiffmann  

Date: ______________________ Date: ______________________ 

Attachment 1

51



  PO/Contract # 

   

 

 

  

       

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

  

_________________________ 

Andrew Massey, LAFCO Legal Counsel 

Address:   

 

21A Rowland Court 

 San Anselmo, CA 94960 

 

Taxpayer ID#:  566-78-7931 

52



P .0./Contract # 

 Page 1 of 11 

------------

ALAMEDA LAFCO, ALAMEDA COUNTY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
STANDARD AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 14th day of July, 2025 by and between the 
ALAMEDA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION, a public agency of the 
State of California, hereafter called the "Alameda LAFCO", and Arcadian Tax & 
Financial Services, LLC., a professional consultant duly qualified in the State of California, 
whose principal place of business 21A Rowland Court, San Anselmo, CA 94960, is hereafter 
called the "Contractor." 

WITNESS ETH 

WHEREAS, the Alameda LAFCO desires to obtain professional consulting services for 
a accounting services that is a part of LAFCO's transition plan for operational independence 
and the proposal can be viewed in Exhibit A attached hereto ("Services"); and 

WHEREAS, Contractor is professionally qualified to provide such services; and 

WHEREAS, the Alameda LAFCO desires to retain and employ the services of Contractor 
in connection with such work, and Contractor is agreeable with such employment. 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed that the Alameda LAFCO does hereby retain and 
employ Contractor to provide the Services in connection with such work, and Contractor accepts 
such employment, on the terms and conditions hereinafter specified in this Agreement and 
additional provisions attached hereto, and the following described exhibits, all of which are 
incorporated into this Agreement by this reference: 
Exhibit A 
Exhibit B 
Exhibit C 

Scope of Services 
Payment Terms 
Insurance Requirements 

CONTRACT PERIOD will be a continuance from July 14, 2025 through March 14, 2027. This 
Agreement may be extended by mutual agreement of both parties hereto, in writing not less than 
thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement. 

COMPENSATION: The Alameda LAFCO agrees to pay Contractor, pursuant to the terms set 
forth in Exhibit B, for services performed hereunder in a total amount not to exceed $25,000 for 
the term of the current agreement, including all expenses, contingencies, and other 
miscellaneous expenses. 

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS, pages 3 through 11, attached hereto constitute a part of this 
agreement. 

Attachment 2

53



Page 2 of 11 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement as of the day and 
year first above written. 

ALAMEDA LAFCO 

By: 

Rachel Jones 
LAFCO EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

CONTRACTOR 

CONTRACTOR 

By:-- ------

Title: Principal 

21A Rowland Court 
San Anselmo, CA 94960 

Tax Payer I.D. # 

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the Executive Officer of the Alameda LAFCO was 
duly authorized to execute this document on behalf of the Alameda LAFCO by a majority vote of 
the Commission on March 13, 2025. 

Date: ---------- ATTEST: 

Alameda LAFCO 
County of Alameda 
State of California 

By: 

54

Alyssa Schiffmann
Alyssa Schiffmann

Alyssa Schiffmann
555-43-3895



55



56



57



58



59



60



Page 9 of 11 

EXHIBIT A - SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Bookkeeping Services 

• Engagement:

The bookkeeper will establish all necessary financial accounts and maintain a comprehensive chart

of accounts aligned with LAFCO' s operational needs.

The bookkeeper will coordinate with appropriate County staff to collect and gain access to

necessary accounting information.

The bookkeeper will complete the chart of accounts for Alameda LAFCO by August 31, 2025.

■ Responsibilities:

The bookkeeper will keep detailed records of account setups (account numbers, descriptions,
categorizations) and perform monthly reconciliations.

All expenditures and financial activities will be documented and presented for review at
Commission meetings.

61

Alyssa Schiffmann

rafapril
Highlight



Page IO of 11 

EXHIBIT B - CONTRACT PAYMENT TERMS 

Contracted Service: 

1. The Alameda LAFCo will pay Contractor for services provided herein, upon submittal of an
invoice and summary report of services performed pursuant to th is agreement. All services wi 11 be
performed at the direction of, and with the prior authorization of, the LAFCO Executive Officer.
Invoices will be approved by the Alameda LAFCO Executive Officer. Payments under the terms
of this Agreement shall not exceed $25,000. This amount includes all administrative expenses and
costs, travel expenses and contingencies. For the purposes assigned in the proposal, the billing
rates are as listed in the firm's proposal and shown below:
Alyssa Schiffmann, Consultant: $157/hour.

2. Alameda LAFCo expects Contractor to cover all costs of professional development activities,
training, and/or continuing education unless Alameda LAFCO requires such professional
development activities, training and/or continuing education of Contractor or Contractor obtains
prior written approval from LAFCO to incur the cost of such professional development activities,
training and/or continuing education.

3. The term of this Agreement is July 14, 2025 through March 13, 2027.

62

Alyssa Schiffmann

rafapril
Sticky Note
Per Rachel email on 7.14.25 change should be fine for now.



63



Blank for Photocopying 

664



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 4f 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 

SUBJECT: Contract Amendment with Epic Insurance Brokers   
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will consider its contract with Epic 

Insurance Brokers to authorize expanded services related to retirement, health benefits, and human 

resources policy development, in an amount not to exceed $10,000. Staff recommends approval.  

 

Background 

Alameda LAFCO is continuing its transition toward full independence from Alameda County effective 

January 1, 2026. A critical part of this process is the establishment of new retirement, health, and 

welfare benefits for employees, along with the adoption of personnel policies to guide operations as an 

independent employer. Epic Insurance Brokers was retained under the Executive Officer’s small 

contracting authority at the Commission’s last regular meeting to provide initial comparative analysis 

of ACERA, CalPERS, and SDRMA benefit options.  

Given the short implementation timeline and specialized expertise needed, staff recommends 

expanding the consultant’s role to guide the next phase of the transition, which includes HR policy 

development, and coordination with payroll and benefit providers. The Commission is asked to 

consider a contract amendment authorizing these expanded services in an amount not to exceed 

$10,000. 

 

Discussion 

 

This item is for the Commission to consider the proposed expanded scope of services for Epic 

Insurance Brokers to support LAFCO’s transition to independence. Building on the initial retirement 

and health benefits analysis, the consultant would assist with the following next-phase tasks:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

65



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4f 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Human Resources Policy Development 

 

❖ Draft LAFCO-specific personnel policies covering: 

• Employee classification 

• Compensation and salary structure 

• Leave policies (vacation, sick leave, FMLA) 

• Performance evaluations and disciplinary procedures 

 

❖ Ensure compliance with California labor laws, California Public Employee’s Pension Reform 

Act of 2013 (PEPRA), and public sector employment regulations. 

 

❖ Implementation Strategy 

• Develop a phased transition plan for integrating new benefit and HR systems.  

• Provide guidance on employee enrollment and transition logistics. 

• Assist in coordinating with benefit providers and payroll services to ensure seamless 

implementation.  

The consultant estimates the project will take 4-6 weeks to complete, at a fee not to exceed $10,000. 

 

 

Financing 

 

Adequate funding is budgeted in the FY 2025–2026 operating budget under consultant services to 

support LAFCO’s independence transition. The proposed $10,000 contract amendment can be 

absorbed within the current fiscal year budget allocation for consultant work. No additional 

appropriation is required. 

 

Alternatives for Action 

 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Amend the contract with Epic Insurance Brokers to expand the scope of services outlined above, in an 

amount not to exceed $10,000; and authorize the Executive Officer, in consultation with legal counsel, 

to finalize and execute the amendment. 

 

Alternative Two:  

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction to staff for additional 

information as needed. 

 

Alternative Three:  

Take no action and limit services to the initial contract scope already completed.  

66



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 4f 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

3 | P a g e  

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  
 

Procedures   

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the consent calendar. A 

successful motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the 

staff recommendation as provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 
Executive Officer 

 

 

Attachment:  

1. Contract Extension  
2. Contract Agreement with Epic Brokers Insurance 

67



Blank for Photocopying 

668



PO/Contract # 

AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

Reference is made to that contract entered into on the 11th day of July 2025, by and between the 

Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission, a public agency of the State of California, 

hereinafter “Alameda LAFCo,” and Epic Insurance Broker and Consultant duly qualified in the 

State of California, whose principal place of business 3697 Mt. Diablo Blvd, Suite 100, 

Lafayette, CA 94549, hereinafter the “Contractor,” and together, the “Parties” (“the 

Agreement”). 

WHEREAS, the Agreement included professional consulting services for expert guidance on 

benefits administration, retirement systems, and HR policies that is a part of LAFCO's transition 

plan for operational independence; and 

WHEREAS, Alameda LAFCO desires to expand the scope of work to include includes HR policy 

development, and coordination with payroll and benefit providers, which will necessitate increasing 

the not-to-exceed amount of the Agreement to fund the additional phase of the work; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as follows: 

Said Agreement is hereby amended as follows: 

1. Contractor shall proceed with implementing the following:

A. Draft LAFCO-specific personnel policies covering:

▪ Employee classification

▪ Compensation and salary structure

▪ Leave policies (vacation, sick leave, FMLA)

▪ Performance evaluations and disciplinary procedures

B. Ensure compliance with California labor laws, PEPRA, and public sector employment

regulations.

C. Implementation Strategy

▪ Develop a phased transition plan for integrating new benefit and HR systems.

▪ Provide guidance on employee enrollment and transition logistics.

▪ Assist in coordinating with benefit providers and payroll services to ensure

seamless implementation.

2. Increase the contract amount by $10,000 for a total contract not-to-exceed amount of

$12,000.

This amendment is effective September 11, 2025. Except as specifically amended, the remaining 

provisions of the Agreement remain in full force and effect. 

Attachment 1

69



  PO/Contract # 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this amendment. 

 

Alameda LAFCO     Contractor 

       Bill Lavis  

 

By: ______________________   By: _______________________ 

Rachel Jones, LAFCO Executive Officer  Bill Lavis  

 

Date: ______________________   Date: ______________________   

        

         

   

 

 

  

       

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

  

_________________________ 

Andrew Massey, LAFCO Legal Counsel 

Address:   

 

3697 Mt. Diablo Blvd, Suite 100 

Lafayette, CA 94549 

 

Taxpayer ID#:   

70



Attachment 2

71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11,  2025  

Item No. 5 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA) |  

Governance Study and Contribution Request for Phase II  
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will receive a presentation from 

representatives of the Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA) regarding the findings of an 

Existing Conditions Report prepared by Berkson Associates. The report evaluates the governance, 

service delivery, and financial condition of the district and identifies potential alternative 

governance structures, including annexation to the City of Pleasanton. As part of this item, CCSA 

representatives are requesting that LAFCO consider contributing funding toward the next phase 

of study, which would focus on feasibility and fiscal impacts of annexation. Staff is presenting 

the report to provide context, outline the request, and seek Commission direction on whether to 

allocate funds toward the proposed Phase II analysis. 

 

Background 

 

The Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA) was established in 1968 to provide road services and 

later expanded in 1979 to include water and sewer service delivery. The district encompasses 587 acres 

in unincorporated Alameda County, with a population of approximately 638 residents and 242 

residential units. The area also includes two 18-hole golf courses and the Castlewood Country Club. 

Concerns about escalating costs, financial sustainability, and infrastructure needs led Castlewood 

residents, through their Property Owners Association, to commission Berkson Associates to prepare 

an Existing Conditions Report (dated June 2, 2025). The report describes the CSA’s governance, 

operations, service delivery, and finances, and sets the foundation for examining alternative 

governance structures, including annexation to the City of Pleasanton. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

83



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 5 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Discussion 

 

Governance Options 

As outlined in the Existing Conditions Report, the community is exploring three governance options: 

 

1.  Status Quo: Retain the existing CSA structure under the Alameda County Board of    Supervisors 

2. Formation of a Community Services District (CSD): Establish a locally governed, independent 

district. 

 

3. Annexation to the City of Pleasanton: Transition water, sewer, road, and related services to 

Pleasanton, with accompanying tax exchange negotiations between the City and County. 

The annexation option would require further financial, legal, and service-level analysis to determine 

fiscal impacts, infrastructure responsibilities, and potential community benefits. 

Funding Request 

 

Representatives of Castlewood CSA appear before the Commission on September 11, 2025, to present 

the findings of the Existing Conditions Report and to discuss next steps. Specifically, the 

representatives request that Alameda LAFCO contribute approximately $10,000 toward the cost of 

the second phase of the study. 

Phase II would examine in greater detail the feasibility and fiscal impacts of annexation into the City 

of Pleasanton, including: 

• Analysis of long-term service costs and revenue streams; 

• Assessment of infrastructure liabilities (water, sewer, and roads); 

• Identification of governance transition issues and timelines; and 

• Preparation of materials to support potential LAFCO reorganization proceedings. 

Alternatives for Action 

 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Staff recommends that the Commission receive the CCSA presentation and provide direction regarding 

whether to allocate funds toward the requested Phase II study. Should the Commission wish to proceed, 

staff will return at a future meeting with a funding agreement and scope of work for approval. 

 

Alternative Two:  

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction to staff for additional 

information as needed. 

84



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 5 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

3 | P a g e  

 

Alternative Three:  

Deny further discussions. 

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  
 

Procedures   

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the business calendar. The 

following procedures are recommended in consideration of this item: 

 

1. Receive verbal presentation from staff unless waived.  

2. Invite any comments from the public. 

3. Provide feedback on the item as needed. 

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 

Executive Officer 

 
Attachment:  

1. Castlewood CSA Existing Conditions Report (June 2, 2025) 

 

 

. 

 

85



Blank for Photocopying 

686



REPORT 

SPECIAL STUDY OF GOVERNANCE OPTIONS 
EXISTING CONDITIONS REPORT 
CASTLEWOOD COUNTY SERVICE AREA 

Prepared by 

Berkson Associates 

Prepared for 

Castlewood Property Owners Association 

June 2, 2025 

Attachment 1

87



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

i 

 

Table of Contents 
1. Overview ......................................................................................................................................................... 1 

About the Castlewood CSA ...........................................................................................................................................................1 

Population and Land Use ..............................................................................................................................................................1 

Map 1  Castlewood CSA ............................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Overview of Services, Facilities & Infrastructure ............................................................................................... 3 

Table 1  Summary of Current Facilities, Services & Providers ..................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Administration & Engineering .......................................................................................................................... 5 

Table 2  Summary of CCSA General Fund .................................................................................................................................................... 6 

General Fund Expenditures ...........................................................................................................................................................6 

General Fund Revenues ................................................................................................................................................................6 

4. Sewer M&O and Capital Improvements ............................................................................................................ 7 

Collection System ..........................................................................................................................................................................7 

Sewer Treatment...........................................................................................................................................................................7 

Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs) ..................................................................................................................................................7 

Sewer M&O Expenditures .............................................................................................................................................................8 

Table 3  Summary of Sewer M&O Costs as Basis for FY2024-25 Charges ................................................................................................... 8 

Sewer M&O Service Charges.........................................................................................................................................................8 

Sewer Capital Improvements & Funding ......................................................................................................................................9 

5. Water Maintenance & Operations (M&O) and Capital Improvements ............................................................. 10 

Water Source and Distribution .................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Water Quality ............................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Water System Leakage ............................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Water M&O Expenditures .......................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Table 4  Summary of Water Costs as Basis for FY2024-25 Charges ........................................................................................................... 11 

Non-recurring Water M&O Expenditures .................................................................................................................................. 11 

Water M&O Service Charges ..................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Water O&M Supplemental Charge ............................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Water Capital Improvements ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Table 5  Water System Improvement Costs ............................................................................................................................................... 14 

88



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

ii 

 

6. Roads ............................................................................................................................................................ 15 

Road Fund Expenditures ............................................................................................................................................................ 15 

Road Capital Improvements....................................................................................................................................................... 15 

Table 6  Road Capital Improvement Costs ................................................................................................................................................. 15 

Road Funding ............................................................................................................................................................................. 16 

7. Other Public Services ..................................................................................................................................... 17 

Police Protection ........................................................................................................................................................................ 17 

Fire Protection ............................................................................................................................................................................ 17 

Planning & Building .................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

CC&R Enforcement..................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

Library......................................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

8. Financial Conditions, Indicators & Trends ....................................................................................................... 18 

Table 7  Summary of CCSA Revenues and Expenditures ........................................................................................................................... 19 

Revenues .................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Property Tax ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Service Charges .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Table 8  Summary of Charges (FY23-FY29) ................................................................................................................................................ 21 

Expenditures .............................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Assets ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Fund Balances............................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

Infrastructure and Facilities ....................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Liabilities..................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

State Loan ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

County Revolving Fund............................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

9. Governance Options ...................................................................................................................................... 23 

Table 9  Summary of Governance Options ................................................................................................................................................ 24 

CCSA (Status Quo) ...................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Community Services District ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Annexation to Pleasanton .......................................................................................................................................................... 25 

 

89



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

iii 

 

Attachment A .................................................................................................................................................... 26 

CCSA Sewer Parcel Map ............................................................................................................................................................. 26 

Attachment B .................................................................................................................................................... 28 

CCSA Water Parcel Map ............................................................................................................................................................. 28 

Attachment C .................................................................................................................................................... 30 

CCSA Roads Parcel Map ............................................................................................................................................................. 30 

Attachment D .................................................................................................................................................... 32 

CCSA Roads and Approximate Lengths ...................................................................................................................................... 32 

Attachment E..................................................................................................................................................... 34 

CCSA Tax Increment Factors by Entity ....................................................................................................................................... 34 

 

90



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

1 

 

1. Overview 
Residents of the Castlewood community concerned about the cost and provision of public services by Castlewood 

Community Services Areas (CCSA) commissioned the current report. This report provides information to support 

discussion of governance options that could improve public services to Castlewood. 

The report describes current CCSA services, facilities, infrastructure and other aspects of governance including 

operations and finances. If the community moves forward with a change of governance, this information and 

additional analysis will be considered by the County, other affected public agencies which could include the City of 

Pleasanton, and by the Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) who will process a reorganization 

application. 

About the Castlewood CSA 
A Community Services Area (CSA) is a dependent special district.1 The Alameda County Board of Supervisors serve 

as the CSA board and oversee County staff in the management and operation of the district.  

The Castlewood CSA (CCSA) was formed on September 17, 1968, to provide for the improvement, maintenance and 

drainage of the private roads in the Castlewood unincorporated area adjacent to the City of Pleasanton. In May 

1979, the scope of CCSA services was extended to include provision of sewer and water services.  

Map 1 shows the boundaries of the district, which cover 587 acres. The area is unincorporated and within the 

Sphere of Influence (SOI) of the City of Pleasanton. An SOI is an area of potential future expansion as determined 

and approved by LAFCO. 

Population and Land Use 
The CCSA boundary encompasses 587 acres serving a population of 638 residents.2 Two 18-hole golf courses and a 

country club are also within the CCSA. 

Within the CSA are 242 residential units.3 The number of residential units benefitting from road, sewer, or water 

services varies depending on unit location, availability of more proximate service providers or infrastructure, and in 

some cases homeowner provision of service (e.g., maintenance of access roads).  

 

1     Gov. Code Sec. 25210-25217.4 “County Service Area Law”. 

2     Municipal Service Review and Sphere of Influence Reviews. Alameda County Special Districts and County Service Areas. Alameda Local 

Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO). Final Commission Report, October 11, 2024. (2024 CSA MSR). 

 

 

91



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

2 

 

Map 1  Castlewood CSA4 

  

 

4    Source: LAFCO map viewer; Google maps; Berkson Associates. 

92



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

3 

 

2. Overview of Services, Facilities & Infrastructure 
CCSA is responsible for the operation and maintenance of water, sewer, and roads in Castlewood.  

Services are provided by CCSA through agreements with various public agencies and contracts with private firms. 

The County of Alameda’s Dept. of Public Works staff manage and administer the affairs of CCSA. 

Castlewood, as an unincorporated community, receives other public services provided by the County of Alameda, 

including sheriff protection and animal control, fire protection, library, planning and building, public works, and 

flood control (Zone 7 Water Agency). 

Other public agencies provide services to the community e.g., school districts and community college, mosquito 

abatement and East Bay Regional Park. 

  

93



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

4 

 

Table 1  Summary of Current Facilities, Services & Providers 

  

94



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

5 

 

3. Administration & Engineering 
ACPWA staff provide several administration and engineering tasks: 

• Management of capital improvements (bid and contract oversight, design and applicable law) 

• Regulatory reporting and compliance 

• Records maintenance (CSA records, maps databases and files 

• Finance (budgets, accounting and financial reporting)   

• Routine and emergency services 

• Contract Management 

• Public outreach (surveys, response to public inquiries 

• Legal services 

• Coordination with other County departments (BOS, planning, Counsel, Assessor, Auditor) and public 

agencies (City of Pleasanton, SFPUC, state regulatory agencies) 

The CCSA budget tracks administrative and overhead costs in its General Fund. Services specific to sewer, water and 

roads are assumed to be allocated to their respective funds.  

Table 2 summarizes multiple years of revenues and expenditures in the General Fund. The summary is based on 

data derived from unaudited County invoices and reports.5 

 

  

 

5    Data from CPOA file: "FY20-24 REVEXP Combined - 5.17.24, tab "Pivot"; FY24 and FY25 from FY26 Annual Report 

95



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

6 

 

Table 2  Summary of CCSA General Fund 

 

General Fund Expenditures 
Significant increases in salaries, professional services (administration, applied overhead, financial and audit), and 

legal fees resulted in CCSA General Fund operating shortfalls beginning in FY2021-22.  

Administrative, financial and legal costs are not allocated to the road, sewer or water operations, and therefore are 

not funded by charges for those services. Applied overhead is distributed among several funds. 

General Fund Revenues 
Property taxes are the primary funding source for administrative and overhead costs reported in the General Fund.  

Interest earnings are a significant revenue source in certain years depending on prevailing interest rates and fund 

balances. The interest on balances in other funds appears to be allocated entirely to the General Fund. 

 

    

  

96



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

7 

 

4. Sewer M&O and Capital Improvements 

Collection System 
The CCSA sewer system consists of “5.3 miles of gravity sewer pipeline segments, 116 manholes and cleanouts, 0.8 

miles of force mains, and one pump station.”6 Property owners are responsible for laterals from their residence to 

the property line. 

The sewer system serves approximately 215 residential units and a single commercial service connection from the 

Castlewood Country Club discharging an equivalent of 41 residential units of sewage.7 A small number of lots are on 

septic systems.8  

Sewer Treatment 
All wastewater is conveyed to the Dublin-San Ramon Services District (DSRSD) for ultimate treatment and disposal 

through the West Pleasanton Interceptor sewer. 

CCSA purchased treatment capacity for 308 RDEs, of which 247 RDEs have been purchased and connected. Nine of 

the remaining 61 RDEs have been purchased but not connected; the unpurchased 52 RDEs represent capacity 

available for purchase.9 

Services provided by the CCSA (ACPWA) include routine maintenance of the sewerage pump station, emergency 

sewerage system repairs, field inspections, monitoring sewerage capacity and related sewerage system data.10 

The City of Pleasanton maintains the pump station under contract with the CSA. 

Maintenance of the rest of the sewerage system is contracted to Bracewell Engineering.11 

Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs) 
No SSOs were reported from 2020 through 2025.12 

  

 

6     Sanitary Sewer Management Plan (SSMP), Castlewood County Service Area R-1967-1. Alameda County Public Works Agency in 

consultation with Causey Consulting. May 2023. 

7     2023 Sewer Management Plan. 

8     The 2012 CCSA MSR noted five septic systems. 

9     Annual Report, Fiscal Year 2023-2024, Castlewood County Service Area, 5/2/2023. (FY24 CCSD Annual Report) 

10    FY24 CCSD Annual Report. 

11    County of Alameda Standard Services Agreement, Procurement Contract No. 26793, July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2029. 

12    Spill Public Report, State Water Resources Control Board, 1/1/2020 – 3/1/2025. See: “Castlewood CS”   

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/ciwqs/publicreports.html#sso  

97

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/ciwqs/publicreports.html#sso


 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

8 

 

Sewer M&O Expenditures 
Table 3 shows projected costs that were the basis for FY2024-25 charges.13  

Table 3  Summary of Sewer M&O Costs as Basis for FY2024-25 Charges 

 

Sewer M&O Service Charges 
Charges are based on annual costs to fund sewer maintenance and operations. 

Annual sewer M&O service charges remained flat at $675/RDE from 2014 through FY2023-24 then increased in 

FY2024-25 by $110 to $785. In FY2025-26 the sewer M&O charges total $809 per RDE after the increase and will 

grow 3%/year thereafter. 

A preliminary review of unaudited CCSA invoices indicates an approximate $180,000 Sewer Maintenance Fund 

FY2023-24 ending fund balance.14 The estimated ending fund balance does not include about $50,000 of 

encumbrances which would reduce the unrestricted funds available by a corresponding amount.15  

  

 

13   Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Service Charge Increase, April 2024. 

14   See CPOA file: “FY20-24 Combined – 5.17.24”, tab “Pivot (2024)”. 

15   ACPWA accounting deducts remaining contractual obligations applicable to future years as a deduction from the ending fund balance. 

98



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

9 

 

Sewer Capital Improvements & Funding 
The 2023 Sewer Management Plan16 includes a Capital Improvement Program that proposes expenditures of 

$100,000 annually from FY2022-23 through FY2026-27.  

CCSA’s sewer capital charges, remaining relatively constant at approximately $1,100 per meter/connection, are 

deposited to the Water Capital Fund to pay for capital improvements. These charges generated about $124,000 in 

FY24 which exceeds the $100,000 annual CIP expenditure recommended in the 2023 Sewer Management Plan. 

No expenditures are reported from FY2019-20 through FY2023-24 based on a review of invoices, and none are 

reported in engineer’s reports and annual reports, enabling a fund balance to accumulate. A preliminary review of 

unaudited CCSA invoices indicates an ending balance of about $1.2 mill. in the Sewer Capital Fund’s FY2023-24 

ending fund balance.17 ACPWA’s last audited financial reports were prepared for the fiscal year FY2021-22.18 The 

document did not report individual fund balances. 

  

 

16   Sanitary Sewer Management Plan, Castlewood County Service Area R-1967-1. Alameda County Public Works Agency in consultation 

with Causey Consulting. May 2023. 

17   See CPOA file: “FY20-24 Combined – 5.17.24”, tab “Pivot (2024)”. 

18   Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report, June 30, 2022. The Castlewood Fund. Alameda County Public Works Agency. 

Prepared by Grant & Smith, LLP, CPAs. 

99



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

10 

 

5. Water Maintenance & Operations (M&O) and Capital Improvements 
Water Source and Distribution 
CCSA’s sole source of water is from “the Pleasanton Well Fields owned by the San Francisco Public Utilities 

Commission (SFPUC).”19 The State Dept. of Water Resources (DWR) “...has not identified this basin as over-drafted, 

nor is projected to be over-drafted in the future.”20 

Prior water rights, which originated “with an agreement between Phoebe Hearst and the Spring Valley Water 

Company”21 in 191122 entitle CCSA to 90 MG per year at no cost. 

Water flows to the Valley Reservoir near the Valley Golf Course; the City of Pleasanton, by contract with the CSA, 

“operates and maintains the Foothill Pump Station and the pipeline”23 to CCSA and its reservoir. From the reservoir, 

water is delivered to CCSA users and pumped to steel storage tanks. Private wells serve a small number of lots.24 

Water Quality 
The water supply is disinfected “via sodium hypochlorite injection. The SFPUC monitors water quality weekly.”25 

Recent annual water quality reports, required by the State and prepared by ACPWA and the CCSA contract water 

O&M provider, reported all water delivered to CCSA customers “...met all applicable federal and state drinking 

water standards without any violations.”26  

In November 2024 a “Boil Water Notice” was issued for Castlewood then rescinded two days later.27 The incident 

was caused by PGE puncturing the main water line which triggered repairs and testing.28 

 

19   2012 CCSA Water & Sewer Assessment. 

20   2020 SFPUC UWMP, p.6-7. 

21   Castlewood County Service Area Municipal Service Review Final. January 10, 2013. Prepared for the Local Agency Formation 

Commission of Alameda County. Baracco and Associates, Policy Consulting Associates, LLC. (2012 CCSA MSR). 

22   Castlewood County Service Area Water and Sewer Assessment. Prepared at the Request of Alameda County Public Works Agency. 

October 2012. Prepared by Pakpour Consulting Group and Psomas. (2012 Sewer & Water Assessment). 

23   FY24 Annual Report, 5/2/2023, recommending rates for FY2023-24. 

24   The 2012 CCSA MSR reported five wells. 

25   2020 Urban Water Management Plan for the City and County of San Francisco, Public Review Draft, April 2021. Prepared by The San 

Francisco Public Utilities Commission. 

26   2022 and 2023 Annual Water Quality Reports, Alameda County Public Works Agency and Coleman Engineering. 

27   Boil Water Notice for Castlewood Estates Water System CA015008, 11/13/2024. Accessed from CPOA website. Cancellation 

11/15/2024. 

28    CPOA, May 14, 2025. 

100



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

11 

 

Water System Leakage 
County reports indicate leakage estimates ranging from 41 percent (2022) to 15 percent (2023).29 The high leakage 

in 2022 can be attributed to effects of the old water tanks and subsequent replacement process. Individual 

residential water meters and overage charges have reduced water usage.30 

In 2012 an assessment found potential “unaccounted for water” representing about 11 percent to 15 percent of 

water pumped and recommended further investigation into potential losses.31 It is not known whether further 

investigations were conducted. 

Water M&O Expenditures 
Table 4 shows projected costs that were the basis for FY2024-25 charges.32 

Table 4  Summary of Water Costs as Basis for FY2024-25 Charges 

 

The projected costs resulted in a nearly 300 percent increase in water M&O charges compared to the prior year 

FY2023-24. 

Non-recurring Water M&O Expenditures 
Non-recurring and unanticipated expenditures reduced fund balances and created a cumulative deficit requiring a 

County loan. An additional assessment was added to water M&O service charges to repay the loan (see Water 

O&M Supplemental Charge, below). 

Future charges (notwithstanding the 10-year supplemental charge) were calculated based on costs shown in Table 

4 excluding extraordinary, non-recurring charges (plus an annual inflation adjustment for water and sewer O&M 

 

29    CPOA data from County (CPOA file: “County Summary Homeowner Usage PDF-Water use (2020-2023) 9.23.24-Downloaded 09.24.24”). 

30    CPOA 4/18/2025. 

31    2012 CCSA Water & Sewer Assessment. 

32    Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Service Charge Increase, April 2024. 

 

101



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

12 

 

charges). The calculation of charges does not include a contingency for emergencies. No County policies regarding 

CSA reserves or fund balances were identified. 

Water M&O Service Charges 
Service charges based on annual costs provide funding for water maintenance and operations. Total service charges 

increased significantly in recent years, primarily due to water operations and maintenance as noted above in the 

section Non-recurring Water M&O Expenditures.  

Water M&O rates were $1,089 per meter/connection for nine years through FY24,33 increasing to $2,958 in FY25 or 

nearly triple the prior year. The following year, FY26, charges are projected to increase to $3,940 if the proposed 

supplemental charge for prior year fund balance deficits (see below) applies to a full year of FY26. The supplement 

is proceeding through the notice and hearing process.34   

A number of factors contributed to water O&M costs exceeding revenues, a need for higher rates, and reductions in 

fund balances that triggered a County loan and supplemental assessment. Cost factors included: 

1. Unforeseen leaks and pump failures during fiscal years FY2022-23 and FY2023-24, demanding immediate 

attention.35 

2. Water system configuration  and operation information missing, or system improperly configured, contributing 

to higher emergency repair costs.36 

3. Multiple changes in O&M contract providers at increasing contract costs and additional charges.37 

4. Water overage charges for usage exceeding CCSA’s allocated 90MG annually due to excess use,38 leakage, and 

possible impacts during water tank repair and testing.39 

Prior years’ rates did not anticipate or incorporate these costs, and did not provide reserves for contingencies and 

emergencies; consequently, ACWPA added a supplemental charge beginning in FY2025-26 to repay the County 

loan40 for an accumulated fund balance deficit to that point.  

 

33  Annual Report, Fiscal Year 2023-2024, Table 2. 

34   FY26 Annual Report, 5/6/2025, recommending rates for FY2025-26. 

35  Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Supplemental Service Charge, April 22, 2025, pg. 5-6. 

36   Review of Five Years of Water Maintenance Invoices, CPOA Water Committee 3/20/2025. 

37   Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Supplemental Service Charge, April 22, 2025, pg. 5-6. 

38   CCSA subsequently implemented charges for excess use by residents [date]. 

39   Review of Five Years of Water Maintenance Invoices, CPOA Water Committee 3/20/2025. 

40   See ACPWA memorandum to BOS with attached resolution R-2024-484, Oct. 2, 2024. 

102



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

13 

 

Future years’ rates were not increased to cover the higher annual costs in FY2023-24 (and the prior year) reported 

in the calculation of the supplemental charge (see below).41 These rates presume that future costs are at FY2024-25 

levels (plus 3 percent inflation) without the “non-recurring” costs that caused fund balance deficits.  

Water O&M Supplemental Charge 

As a result of estimated Water Operations ending fund balance shortfalls, in April 2025 ACPWA proposed to add a 

“Supplemental Service Charge” of $829.72 per RDE, leaving other rates as established the prior year.42 

The supplemental charge repays over ten years a County loan43 approved in Oct. 2024 to cover an estimated $1.4 

million ending fund balance shortfalls accumulated in FY2022-23 and FY2023-24. 

The supplemental charge would bring total water M&O charges to approximately $3,940 annually per 

meter/connection (if effective FY2025-26). The supplement is proceeding through the notice and hearing process.44  

Water Capital Improvements 
CCSA recently replaced its old redwood tanks. The new tanks were funded by a loan from the State. When CCSA 

applied for the loan, costs were estimated at $1.5 million. CCSA subsequently obtained a loan for $3 million which 

was deposited to the Water Capital Fund.  

Annual repayment began in 2023. Combined principal and interest payments are $177,000 annually. 

Table 5 summarizes planned improvements. ACPWA met with Castlewood representatives in 2023 and discussed 

options for funding the improvements. To date, no action has been taken. The CCSA’s FY26 Annual Report also 

indicated a need to “replace the roof at one of the of the water pump stations” but no costs were provided.45 

The 2012 Water and Sewer Assessment recommended CSA budgeting for water main replacement “...starting at 40 

years in the event emergency repairs need to occur.”46 Approximately 90 percent of the system was replaced in 

1996 and has a lifespan of about 100 years.47  

 

41   Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Supplemental Service Charge, April 22, 2025, Table 2. 

42   Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Supplemental Service Charge, April 22, 2025. 

43   See ACPWA memorandum to BOS with attached resolution R-2024-484, Oct. 2, 2024. 

44   FY26 Annual Report, 5/6/2025, recommending rates for FY2025-26. 

45   FY26 Annual Report, 5/6/2025, recommending rates for FY2025-26. 

46   2012 CCSA Water & Sewer Assessment. 

47   2012 CCSA Water & Sewer Assessment. 

103



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

14 

 

Table 5  Water System Improvement Costs 

 

ACPWA presented options such as a debt and/or supplemental assessments to fund capital improvements.48 No 

decisions on improvements or their fund. 

CCSA’s water capital charges, remaining relatively constant at approximately $416 per RDE, are deposited to the 

Water Capital Fund to pay for capital improvements. 

A preliminary review of unaudited CCSA invoices indicates an ending fund balance shortfall of about ($250,000) in 

the Water Capital Fund’s FY2023-24 ending fund balance.49 ACPWA’s last audited financial reports were prepared 

for the fiscal year FY2021-22.50 The document did not report individual fund balances. 

  

 

48    CCSA meeting presentation, Sept. 2023. 

49    See CPOA file: “FY20-24 Combined – 5.17.24”, tab “Pivot (2024)”. 

50    Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report, June 30, 2022. The Castlewood Fund. Alameda County Public Works Agency. 

Prepared by Grant & Smith, LLP, CPAs. 

104



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

15 

 

6. Roads 
CCSA maintains approximately five miles of private roads and related drainage facilities in Castlewood, or about 

43,000 square yards of pavement, excluding about one mile of privately maintained roads.51 Another 1.1 miles of 

road are County-owned and maintained.52 The 3-year moving average Pavement Condition Index (PCI) for Alameda 

County unincorporated roads in 2023 was 72, or “good (70-79)”, on a scale of 100.53 For reference, City of 

Pleasanton streets averaged a PCI of 77. The PCI for CCSA roads is not known. 

Road Fund Expenditures 
Road Fund expenditures vary annually depending on maintenance needs. Over a five-year period, expenditures 

averaged about $50,000 consistent with annual revenues. 

Road Capital Improvements 
ACPWA annual reports indicate that a major resurfacing project (Castlewood Drive) is required, and a program of 

regular slurry seals and periodic overlays are needed but are not currently funded adequately by CCSA road 

assessments.    

In a 2023 presentation, ACPWA identified the road improvements shown in Table 6.  

Table 6  Road Capital Improvement Costs 

 

According to the FY24 Annual Report, in FY 2019-20 “the side roadways from Castlewood Drive were slurry sealed. 

Extensive base repair was also conducted on Greens Lane. Overlay of Castlewood Drive will be conducted after 

completion of the redwood tank replacement project.”54 Phasing and funding for these projects was not identified.  

 

51    See Attachment D for estimated road lengths and public vs. private roads. 

52    Castlewood Dr. from Sunol Rd. to Foothill Rd, and Foothill Rd. 

53    Pavement Condition Index (PCI) for Bay Area Jurisdictions 2023. Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC). Oct. 30, 2024. 

54    FY24 Annual Report, 5/2/2023, recommending rates for FY2023-24. 

105



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

16 

 

Road Funding 
CCSA road assessments of $224 per residential parcel totaling $47,700 annually. The fee paid for projected 

recurring expenditures of $15,900 and provided an annual surplus of $31,800;55 no additional increases through 

FY2028-29 were proposed or adopted by the BOS.56  

Fixed Road Fund charges subsequently adopted by the BOS continued current CSA road assessments through 

FY2028-29;57 these rates and revenues appear significantly below the recurring amounts sufficient to fund optimal 

periodic slurry seals and resurfacing noted in Table 6. 

  

 

55    Castlewood CSA Engineer’s Report. April 2024. Table 1. 182 residential parcels pay the service charge, and the Club has been estimated 

to attract as many vehicle trips as 31 residential parcels. Other residential parcels privately maintain their roads and are not assessed or 

solely utilize County roads. 

56    Alameda County Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 2024-131. March 26, 2024. 

57    Alameda County Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 2024-131. March 26, 2024. 

106



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

17 

 

7. Other Public Services 

Police Protection 
The Alameda County Sheriff's Office (ACSO) provides patrol services to unincorporated areas and the California 

Highway Patrol handles traffic enforcement. The ACSO is funded by County General Fund sources and by a 

Countywide CSA for police protection, which accrues Education Revenue Augmentation Funds (ERAF).58  

Fire Protection 
The Alameda County Fire Department (ACFD) provides wildland and structure fire protection throughout 500 

square miles including unincorporated communities such as Castlewood and cities. 

ACFD does not have stations located in unincorporated areas around Pleasanton. The Livermore-Pleasanton Fire 

Department provides service in this vicinity and to Castlewood CSA via contract with the County.59 The nearest 

station is LPFD Station #4 at 1600 Oak Vista Way in Pleasanton, about 3.5 miles from the Club at Castlewood. 

Approximately 25 percent of Castlewood is within a moderate to very high fire severity zone within ACFD’s Local 

Responsibility Area (LRA). 

Castlewood is within Alameda County Fire Zone #3 which is allocated an 18.1% share of property tax growth in the 

Castlewood CSA Tax Rate Area.60 

Planning & Building 
Alameda County provides planning and building services to Castlewood property owners through the Community 

Development Agency (CDA) and the Public Works Agency (PWA). Offices are located in Hayward. 

CC&R Enforcement 
Castlewood properties are subject to restrictions (“CC&Rs”) that protect the aesthetics of the community. The 

CC&Rs are legally binding and enforced by legal action of property owners. The CCSA does not have the authority to 

enforce the CC&Rs. 

Library 
The residents of Castlewood contribute to the County library system through a share of their property tax and a 

special tax. The nearest County library is in the City of Dublin. 

 

58    Legislative changes associated with the State’s allocation of property tax revenues to ERAF (Education Revenue Augmentation Fund) 

resulted in a loss to the Special District Augmentation Fund; those losses were compensated by the State and those compensating 

funds are allocated by the County to CSA-PP-1991-1 for public safety purposes. 

59    Countywide MSR on Fire Protection and Emergency Medical Services, March 5, 2024. Chp. 4, pg. 73. 

60    Alameda County Auditor-Controller, Report ID: TXA-21 Tax Roll Year: 2024-2025, TRA 75-011. 

107



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

18 

 

8. Financial Conditions, Indicators & Trends 
As illustrated in Table 7, total CCSA fund balances declined to minimal levels by FY2023-24. ACPWA subsequently 

increased charges and loaned CCSA $1.4 million to cover accumulated deficits in the Water M&O Fund. Rate 

increases in FY2024-25, and lower costs resulted in an estimated positive net change in FY2024-25. 

A number of factors contributed to this fund balance decline61 including: 

• Leaks and pump failures 

• Increased contract costs and erroneous allocation of 100 percent of contract costs to water fund62 

• Water “Overage” charges including leakage during tank replacement 

• Debt service for replacement of water tanks 

• Other non-recurring costs, e.g., lack of documentation and improper system configuration causing damage 

and need for repairs  

As part of its rate setting for FY2025-26, APWA requested a supplemental assessment to repay the County’s loan 

from its revolving fund of $1.4 million over ten years. The loan eliminated the Water M&O Fund FY2023-24 ending 

fund balance shortfall of ($1.4 million) but did not provide for nor project future fund balance reserves for 

contingencies and emergencies. 

It is uncertain whether the estimated FY2024-25 fund balance increase will continue because of the lack of audited 

financial reports, absence of a capital improvement program (CIP) with projected costs and timing, and the need for 

a rate study that details and documents projected costs and revenues, adequate debt service coverage, and 

appropriate fund balance reserves for contingencies and emergencies.  

Table 7 summarizes CCSA revenues and expenditures.63 The table estimates combined fund balances relative to the 

FY2021-22 fund balances reported in the FY2021-22 Castlewood Financial Report, the most recent audited financial 

reports available. These estimates differ slightly from estimates in the FY26 Annual Report due to the absence of 

independently audited financial reports since FY2021-22.  

Actual fund balances will differ based on audited data and application of other accounting measures, e.g., 

recognition of accounts payable. Fund balances typically report restricted, designated and assigned portions, for 

example to indicate funds needed to meet contractual “encumbrances”64.    

 

61    See also 2025 Engineers Report (p.6). 

62    Based on review of unaudited invoices. 

63    Data from CPOA file: "FY20-24 REVEXP Combined - 5.17.24, tab "Pivot". 

64    Encumbrances are “...budgetary tools used to track outstanding commitments for goods and services that have not yet been received 

or paid for. Encumbrances are typically reflected in the balance sheet as a reduction in the unassigned fund balance. According to GASB 

54, significant encumbrances should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  

108



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

19 

 

Table 7  Summary of CCSA Revenues and Expenditures 

 

109



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

20 

 

Revenues 

Property Tax 

The total assessed value in CCSA for FY2024-25 is $411.9 million65 which generates $117,177 to CCSA.66 This 

represents an increase of 4.7%. 

Approximately 40.01% of CCSA property tax is shifted to the Education Revenue Augmentation Fund (ERAF).67 After 

the ERAF shift, CCSA receives $70,298. 

In the event of reorganization, property taxes will be transferred to the new entity. The creation of a Community 

Services District (CSD) will transfer current property taxes from the CSA to the CSD.  

Annexation to Pleasanton will require a tax exchange agreement to determine the split of current County property 

tax from Castlewood between the County and the City.  

Service Charges 

Total service charge rates increased significantly in recent years. Rates were approximately $3,500 per RDE for 

eleven years through FY2023-24,68 then increased to $5,482 in FY2024-25. The cost increases were primarily due to 

water O&M rates as described in Section 5. The rate increase contributed to a positive net change in FY25. 

Table 8 summarizes recent and projected charges by service.  

 

65    Report 51-202 Net Totals by Value/Fund, file: 51202069-1-Final-07-24-24.TXT, Fund (Class) 7380 Castlewood CSA R-67-1. Auditor-

Controller Alameda County. 

66   Report TXA-21 Data by Class-TRA Relationships Tax Roll Year: 2024-2025, Auditor-Controller Alameda County. 

67   2024-25 ERAF Contribution Percentages, Auditor-Controller Alameda County. The shift varies slightly each year. 

68  Annual Report, Fiscal Year 2023-2024, Table 2. 

110



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

21 

 

Table 8  Summary of Charges (FY23-FY29) 

 

Expenditures 
As summarized in Table 7 and described for each fund in the prior section, expenditures and non-recurring 

expenses peaked in FY2022-23. ACPWA took steps to provide a County loan to cover $1.4 million of accumulated 

Water O&M Fund deficits and increased rates. A supplemental charge is intended to repay the County loan. 

Assets 
Fund Balances 

As estimated in Table 7, total fund balances at the end of FY24 were under $500,000 and approaching a deficit. The 

shortfalls resulted from recent years of annual costs exceeding revenues.  

The Water Maintenance Fund indicated a significant deficit. A $1.4 mill. County loan restored the Water 

Maintenance Fund’s balance to zero.69 ACPWA’s last audited financial reports were prepared for the fiscal year 

FY2021-22.70 The document did not report individual fund balances. 

 

69    Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Supplemental Service Charge, April 22, 2025, pg. 5-6. 

70    Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report, June 30, 2022. The Castlewood Fund. Alameda County Public Works Agency. 

Prepared by Grant & Smith, LLP, CPAs. 

111



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

22 

 

Infrastructure and Facilities 

CCSA does not report the value of the sewer, water and road infrastructure and facilities it maintains in its financial 

reports; the last financial report was prepared for FY2021-22.71 

Financial reports commonly document the value of a public agency’s infrastructure and facilities. Annual and 

accumulated depreciation can provide a partial measure of asset condition, in addition to physical assessments, to 

indicate the adequacy of investments in capital maintenance.  

Liabilities 
The most recent audited financial reports prepared for the CCSA for FY2021-22 showed accounts payable and 

accrued expenditures of $529,051 but provided no further detail or explanation.72 

More recent liabilities incurred by CCSA include the following obligations which should be documented with 

repayment schedules in an audited financial report. 

State Loan 

The Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) provided CCSA a loan of $3 million for water tank replacement.73 

Repayments began in 2023 and total approximately $177,000 annually. 

County Revolving Fund 

The County created a CSA revolving fund and provided CCSA with $1.4 million74 to fund accumulated deficits in the 

CCSA Water Maintenance Fund. ACPWA added a supplemental assessment to water maintenance charges to repay 

the loan over a ten-year period.75 

  

 

71    Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report, June 30, 2022. The Castlewood Fund. Alameda County Public Works Agency. 

Prepared by Grant & Smith, LLP, CPAs. 

72    Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report, June 30, 2022. The Castlewood Fund. Alameda County Public Works Agency. 

Prepared by Grant & Smith, LLP, CPAs. 

73    See County BOS resolution approving application for DWSRF, Nov. 6, 2020. 

74    See ACPWA memorandum to BOS with attached resolution R-2024-484, Oct. 2, 2024. 

75    Castlewood CSA R-1967-1 Engineer’s Report for Proposed Supplemental Service Charge, April 22, 2025. 

112



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

23 

 

9. Governance Options 
Options offer the opportunity to improve the effectiveness of public services to Castlewood in a number of ways 

(depending on the option): 

• Efficiencies of scale could reduce future administrative, operational, and other costs 

• Local representation could improve accountability 

• Financial reporting and planning could increase transparency, improve decision making and cost 

management 

 Actual future road, water and sewer charges will depend on the outcome of the financial and capital planning 

efforts, operational and governance changes attributable to a given option. 

Table 9 summarizes key aspects of governance options.  

 

  

113



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

24 

 

Table 9  Summary of Governance Options 

  

114



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

25 

 

CCSA (Status Quo) 
This option is essentially “no change” in the status quo. 

A number of actions could be undertaken to improve the cost efficiency and effectiveness of current operations and 

help to manage future rate increases, as noted in this report. 

Community Services District 
The formation of an independent CSD run by a locally elected board offers the potential to improve local oversight 

and decision making. 

Improved cost effectiveness may be partially offset by additional costs associated with running a CSD. 

Annexation to Pleasanton 
Annexation to the City of Pleasanton could improve local representation compared to the status quo BOS. 

Management by municipal departments could provide access to expertise, policies and procedures that could 

improve financial transparency and planning. 

The community may receive a higher level of municipal services compared to those provided to unincorporated 

communities. Annexation could increase revenues to the City to help offset service costs.  

Castlewood could become a zone within the City for the purpose of assessments and to mitigate potential financial 

impacts on the City from the costs of Castlewood services and infrastructure. 

 

 

  

115



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

26 

 

Attachment A 

CCSA Sewer Parcel Map76 

 

76    Accessed 5/7/2025 at: https://castlewoodpoa.org/county-service-area/ 

116

https://castlewoodpoa.org/county-service-area/


 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

27 

 

 

 

  

117



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

28 

 

Attachment B 

CCSA Water Parcel Map77 
  

 

77    Accessed 5/7/2025 at: https://castlewoodpoa.org/county-service-area/ 

118

https://castlewoodpoa.org/county-service-area/


 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

29 

 

 

  

119



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

30 

 

Attachment C 

CCSA Roads Parcel Map78 
  

 

78    Accessed 5/7/2025 at: https://castlewoodpoa.org/county-service-area/  

120

https://castlewoodpoa.org/county-service-area/


 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

31 

 

 
  

121



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

32 

 

Attachment D 

CCSA Roads and Approximate Lengths 

122



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

33 

 

 
  

123



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

34 

 

 

Attachment E 

CCSA Tax Increment Factors by Entity 
CCSA Account 7380   Tax Rate Area (TRA): 75-011 

  

124



 
6/02/2025 

Existing Conditions Report 
Castlewood County Service Area (CCSA)  

 

35 

 

 
 

125



Blank for Photocopying 

6126



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11,  2025  

Item No. 6 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: LAFCO Retirement and Health Benefit Options  
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) is asked to discuss and select 

retirement and health benefit providers to ensure implementation of LAFCO’s transition to 

independence effective January 1, 2026, and to authorize staff, in consultation with legal counsel, 

to finalize agreements with selected providers.  

 

Information 

 

Alameda LAFCO currently participates in the County of Alameda County retirement and benefit 

programs. Retirement benefits are administered under the Alameda County Employees’ Retirement 

Association (ACERA), while health and welfare benefits are offered through County group plans. 

 

As of January 1, 2026, the Commission must transition to independent benefit platforms in order to 

complete its separation from the County. This requires the Commission to determine which providers 

should be engaged for both retirement and health and welfare benefits.  

 

Epic Insurance Brokers was retained to evaluate available options and consultant, Bill Lavis, prepared 

the report as shown in Attachment 1. Their evaluation highlights choices between ACERA and 

CalPERS for retirement benefits, and between CalPERS and Special District Risk Management 

Authority (SDRMA) for health and welfare benefits. 

 

Background 

 

Retirement Plan Evaluation 

Currently, Alameda LAFCO employees are enrolled in ACERA through their employment with the 

County. As of January 1, 2026, LAFCO must establish its own retirement plan. The Commission now 

must consider between remaining in ACERA as a separate employer or transition to CalPERS.  

 

 

127



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Remaining in ACERA would provide continuity for current staff, who are already active members, 

and preserve familiarity with the system’s benefit structure and administrative processes. ACERA also 

offers certain post-retirement medical benefits that may not be available under CalPERS. These are 

meaningful considerations for staff continuity and stability.  

The financial implications, however, are noticeable. While both systems provide similar benefit 

formulas – approximately two percent of final average compensation per year of service – the employer 

contribution rates differ substantially once unfunded liabilities are included.  

Key considerations include: 

• Employer Contribution (Normal Cost): 

o ACERA: 9.06%–9.11% 

o CalPERS: ~9.13% (based on small employer rates) 

 

• Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAAL): 

o ACERA: Adds 19.52%, bringing total employer costs to roughly 28.5% of payroll. 

o CalPERS: No UAAL obligation since LAFCO is not currently an independent 

ACERA employer. Contributions would remain closer to ~9%, subject to actuarial 

valuation. 

 

• Employee Contributions: 

o ACERA: Equal to employer’s normal cost. 

o CalPERS: Determined through actuarial valuation. 

In short, ACERA offers continuity and post-retirement medical benefits and CalPERS presents a 

substantially lower cost structure. 

Health and Benefits Plans 

At present, Alameda LAFCO employees receive health and welfare benefits through the County of 

Alameda, which offers Kaiser and United Healthcare plans, Delta Dental, VSP Vision, employer-paid 

life insurance, and a suite of voluntary benefits. The annual cost of these benefits for LAFCO’s two 

employees is approximately $48,446. 

With independence, LAFCO must select a new health and benefits plan. Both CalPERS and SDRMA 

provide comprehensive benefits from major vendors at competitive pricing.  

 

 

128



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

3 | P a g e  

 

Comparative highlights include: 

• CalPERS 

o Medical, dental, and vision coverage from major carriers (Anthem, Blue Shield, 

Kaiser, United Healthcare). 

o 2026 medical rates: $1,063–$1,612 (single coverage). 

o Dental PPO rates: $45–$51 (single coverage). 

• SDRMA 

o Medical, dental, and vision benefits from Blue Shield, Kaiser, Delta Dental, and VSP. 

o 2026 medical rates: $1,002–$1,703 (single coverage). 

o Dental PPO rates: $30–$53 (single coverage). 

o Broader voluntary benefit options (e.g., disability, legal, pet insurance). 

o Comprehensive HR-style administrative support, functioning as a back-office partner. 

Access requirements also differ. CalPERS’ membership process requires additional clarification on 

whether an agency must also be a member of their retirement plan, while SDRMA offers entry either 

directly or through membership in the California Special Districts Association (CSDA). Membership 

dues for CSDA are estimated at $1,300-$1,800 annually for an agency of LAFCO’s size. 

 

Discussion 

 

The item is for the Commission to decide on retirement and health/benefit providers no later than fall 

2025 to ensure a smooth transition by January 1, 2026.  

 

▪ Retirement: The decision is between ACERA’s continuity and post-retirement medical offerings, 

at significantly higher costs, versus CalPERS’ lower cost structure but less familiarity. 

 

▪ Health and Welfare: CalPERS provides established benefits through major carriers, while 

SDRMA offers additional voluntary benefits and administrative support that may be especially 

valuable for a small agency like LAFCO. 

 

The choice of providers will directly shape both financial sustainability and the employee experience 

as LAFCO becomes fully independent.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

129



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

4 | P a g e  

 

Analysis 

While the consultant’s report provides a useful comparison of retirement and health benefit options, 

staff believes the Commission should also weigh the following factors: 

• CalPERS Cost Uncertainty 

The consultant recommends gathering additional information on CalPERS before making a 

final decision. Staff agrees that further due diligence could add clarity but notes that LAFCO 

faces a hard implementation deadline of January 1, 2026. Prolonged fact-finding risks delaying 

action to the point where LAFCO defaults into continuing with ACERA by necessity, rather 

than by deliberate choice. 

• ACERA’s Post-Retirement Medical Benefit 

One distinguishing feature of ACERA is the inclusion of post-retirement medical benefits, 

which are not available under CalPERS. Although the consultant did not evaluate this factor, 

staff highlights that this benefit may provide meaningful long-term value for employees, 

particularly in terms of recruitment and retention. 

Alternatives for Action 

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Select providers for LAFCO’s retirement and health and welfare benefits, and direct staff, in 

consultation with legal counsel, to finalize agreements with the chosen providers to ensure 

implementation by January 1, 2026.  

 

Alternative Two:  

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction to staff for additional 

information as needed. 

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  
 

Procedures   

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the business calendar. The 

following procedures are recommended in consideration of this item: 

 

1. Receive verbal presentation from staff unless waived.  

2. Invite any comments from the public. 

3. Provide feedback on the item as needed. 

 

130



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 6 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

5 | P a g e  

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 
Executive Officer 

 
Attachment:  

1. Evaluation of Retirement and Health and Welfare Options for Alameda LAFCO, Epic Insurance 

Brokers  

2. ACERA Potential New Employers Costs Report 

3. CalPERS Actuarial Analysis Report  

 

 

. 

 

131



Blank for Photocopying 

6132



1 

Evaluation of Retirement and Health & Welfare Benefit 

Options for Alameda LAFCO 

Prepared by Bill Lavis, Epic Insurance Brokers 

Draft – September 3, 2025 

Overview 

Alameda LAFCO currently provides retirement and health benefits to its two employees through 

Alameda County. Retirement benefits are administered under the Alameda County Employees’ 

Retirement Association (ACERA), while health and welfare benefits are offered through County group 

plans. 

As of January 1, 2026, LAFCO will no longer be eligible for the County’s health and welfare benefits 

and must transition to an independent platform. For retirement, LAFCO may either: 

• Continue participation in ACERA (as a separate employer), or

• Transition to the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS).

This evaluation provides commentary on: 

• Retirement plan options (ACERA vs. CalPERS), and

• Health and welfare benefit platforms (CalPERS vs. SDRMA).

Retirement Plan Evaluation 

Current Situation 

• ACERA: LAFCO employees are currently enrolled through Alameda County. If LAFCO

becomes an independent employer within ACERA, its cost structure would change significantly.

• CalPERS: LAFCO is eligible to join CalPERS as an independent agency.

Benefits Comparison 

• Benefit Formula: Both ACERA and CalPERS provide a defined benefit of approximately 2%

of final average compensation per year of service.

• Normal Cost (Employer Payroll Contribution):

o ACERA: 9.06% – 9.11%

o CalPERS: ~9.13% (publicly posted rates for small employers)

Attachment 1

133



 

 

2 

 

Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAAL) 

• ACERA: According to Andy Yeung of Segal Company (ACERA’s actuarial consultant), 

ACERA carries a UAAL payroll cost of 19.52%. If LAFCO were to participate as a separate 

employer, it would be responsible for this full UAAL contribution, resulting in an overall 

employer cost of ~28.5%. 

•  

CalPERS: Based on research and conversations, LAFCO would not be subject to a withdrawal 

liability from ACERA since it is not currently an independent ACERA employer. CalPERS 

contributions would be limited to the normal cost rate (~9.13%) plus any adjustments determined 

through an actuarial valuation. 

Employee Contributions 

• ACERA: Employee contributions are equal to the employer’s normal cost rate. 

 

• CalPERS: Employee contributions vary and are determined by actuarial valuation. 

Observations 

• If LAFCO continues with ACERA, employer costs could approach 28% of payroll. 

 

• If LAFCO transitions to CalPERS, employer costs could be held closer to 9% of payroll. 

 

• While CalPERS may present a more sustainable financial model, further research is required 

regarding: 

o Membership application process and actuarial valuation requirements 

o Employee contribution rates 

o Long-term obligations and plan design differences 

Preliminary Conclusion 

CalPERS appears to be the more cost-effective retirement plan option for LAFCO, potentially saving 

nearly 20% of payroll costs compared to ACERA. However, additional due diligence and expert 

consultation will be necessary to confirm eligibility, transition steps, and long-term implications. 

 

 

 

 

 

134



 

 

3 

 

Health & Welfare Benefits Evaluation 

Current Benefits (County of Alameda) 

• Medical: 2 Kaiser HMO, 2 United Healthcare HMO, 1 United Healthcare PPO 

• Dental: 1 Delta Dental PPO, 1 Delta Dental HMO 

• Vision: 1 VSP PPO 

• Life Insurance: Employer-paid (New York Life) 

• Voluntary Benefits: Employee-paid options including life and disability (short/long-term), pre-

paid legal, pet insurance, critical illness, hospital indemnity, accident, long-term care, and identity 

theft protection 

Current Cost (2 employees, medical/dental/life only): $48,446 annually 

(Dependent status and plan choices unknown; actual costs may vary) 

 

Alternative Platforms 

CalPERS 

• Medical: Anthem, Blue Shield, Kaiser, United Healthcare, Western Health Advantage (HMOs, 

PPOs, Gold/Platinum tiers) 

• Dental: Multiple PPO and HMO plans (Delta Dental) 

• Vision: VSP (two PPO options) 

• Life Insurance: Employer-paid and voluntary options 

• Disability/EAP: Limited clarity from public sources 

• Rates (2026): 

o Medical: $1,063 – $1,612 (single coverage) 

o Dental PPO: $45 – $51 (single coverage) 

 

SDRMA 

• Medical: Blue Shield PPO/EPO/HSA, Kaiser HMOs 

• Dental: Delta Dental PPO and HMO options 

• Vision: VSP (five PPO options) 

135



 

 

4 

 

• Life & Disability: Employer-paid and employee-paid options 

• Employee Assistance Program (EAP): Employer-paid 

• Rates (2026): 

o Medical: $1,002 – $1,703 (single coverage) 

o Dental PPO: $30 – $53 (single coverage) 

 

Comparative Commentary 

• Both platforms offer robust benefit menus from major carriers. 

• Pricing: Comparable overall; SDRMA provides a broader range of dental PPO pricing. 

• Voluntary Benefits: SDRMA offers a wider selection of employee-paid ancillary options. 

• Administrative Support: SDRMA distinguishes itself by offering comprehensive 

administrative and HR support services, effectively serving as a back-office partner for 

member agencies. This support may be especially valuable for a small, independent agency like 

LAFCO. 

 

Access Requirements 

• CalPERS: Membership requirements need further clarification; additional time is needed to 

confirm entry process and obligations. Most likely need to receive retirement benefits from 

CalPERs to join benefit plan.  

• SDRMA: Two access options: 

1. CSDA Membership: Requires joining the California Special Districts Association, 

which includes workers’ compensation and liability insurance. Membership dues for an 

agency of LAFCO’s size are estimated at $1,300 – $1,800 annually. 

2. Direct Access: Possible without CSDA membership but still requires an underwriting 

and approval process by SDRMA. 

 

 

 

 

136



 

 

5 

 

Conclusion 

Retirement Plans: 

• ACERA would impose a high employer cost due to UAAL charges (~28.5%). 

• CalPERS appears to offer comparable benefits at a substantially lower cost (~9%), though further 

research is required. 

 

Health & Welfare Plans: 

• Both CalPERS and SDRMA provide competitive pricing and benefit menus. 

• SDRMA offers superior voluntary benefits and administrative support services, making it an 

attractive option for a small agency establishing independent operations. 

• Engagement with CSDA may provide additional benefits, including insurance options beyond 

health and welfare. 

 

Recommendation: 

• Pursue additional due diligence on CalPERS retirement plan entry requirements. 

• Begin formal discussions with SDRMA to evaluate membership and enrollment timelines. 

• Consider CSDA membership to leverage additional support services. 

 

 

137



Blank for Photocopying 

6138



180 Howard Street 

Suite 1100 

San Francisco, CA 94105-6147 

T 415.263.8200 

F 415.376.1167 

segalco.com 

5928552v2/05579.001 

March 11, 2025 

Mr. Dave Nelsen 
Chief Executive Officer 
Alameda County Employees' Retirement Association 
475 14th Street, Suite 1000 
Oakland CA 94612-1900 

Re: Alameda County Employees' Retirement Association (ACERA) — Potential new 

employer to contract with ACERA 

Dear Dave: 

We were requested to provide analysis and cost for Alameda Local Agency Formation 

Commission (LAFCO) to contract with ACERA as an independent participating employer, to 

provide vested pension and other non-vested benefits1 such as those paid by the Supplemental 

Retiree Benefits Reserve (SRBR). In this letter, we have included our recommended employee 

and employer contribution rates for LAFCO and outlined certain cost considerations for 

providing the vested pension benefits2 by ACERA. 

Background 
We understand that LAFCO currently contracts with the County to have two County employees 

perform work at that agency. Those County employees are currently enrolled in ACERA’s 

General Tier 4 plan and they are paying the same employee rate charged by ACERA to all 

members in General Tier 4. Similarly, LAFCO is paying to the County the same employer rate 

charged by ACERA to the County for all members in General Tier 4. We understand that upon a 

successful negotiation with ACERA and other stakeholders, the two employees would 

effectively have their employment be transferred from the County to LAFCO. It is anticipated 

that the two employees would not experience any changes in their benefits3 provided by ACERA 

and LAFCO would become an independent participating employer at ACERA with a preliminary 

starting date of July 1, 2025. 

We have provided below the procedure that we used to determine the normal cost to be paid by 

the two employees and by LAFCO. As the two future employees at LAFCO have past service at 

the County and the County has unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) at ACERA with 

respect to that past service (as well as past service for other County active, deferred vested and 

1  The payment of non-vested benefits is at the discretion of the Board of Retirement based on the availability of funds in the SRBR. 
2  There are no contributions required to be paid to the SRBR.  
3  As part of this study, we have assumed that there would be no change in the current and future salaries that the two employees 

would be expected to receive whether they are employed by LAFCO or the County. 

Attachment 2

139



Mr. Dave Nelsen 
March 11, 2025 
Page 2 
 

5928552v2/05579.001  
 

retired members), we have included in this letter our proposed UAAL contribution rate to be paid 

by LAFCO.  

Determination of normal cost rates and Actuarial 
Funding Policy considerations 
For informational purposes, we have determined the normal cost rate based just on the specific 

demographic profile as of December 31, 2023 of the two County employees that currently work 

at that agency. For these two employees, their entry ages into ACERA are 29 and 58 for 

purposes of determining normal cost. Generally, the earlier the entry age the lower the normal 

cost rate would be determined in the valuation, as there would be more time to grow the 

contributions necessary to fund the benefit at the employees’ expected retirement ages.  

As shown in the table below, the average normal cost rate for just the two LAFCO employees is 

9.11% of payroll for each of the employee and the employer. This rate is very close to the 

average normal cost rate that is charged to all General Tier 4 members in ACERA based on an 

average entry age of about 39 (9.06% of payroll for each of the employee and employer).  

Again, the normal cost rates based only on the two LAFCO employees are provided for 

informational purposes only because absent any specific direction to the contrary from the 

Board of Retirement, under ACERA’s Actuarial Funding Policy, the employee and employer 

normal cost rates currently charged in the valuation for each tier are pooled and the same 

normal cost rates are therefore paid by all the employees and the employers covering members 

under General Tier 4. We believe this Policy element to pool normal cost rates would help 

produce more stable employee and employer normal cost rates especially for smaller employers 

like LAFCO. In particular, the average normal cost rate based just on LAFCO’s membership 

could fluctuate if upon the termination or retirement of the two employees included in this study, 

they were replaced by new employees with very different demographic profile. 

Normal Cost Rates Determined as of December 31, 2023 

Normal Cost Rate 

(For Informational 
Purposes)  

Normal Cost Rate for 
General Tier 4 

Calculated Just On 
LAFCO Employees 

Recommended Normal 
Cost Rate for LAFCO  

General Tier 4 
Employees 

Employee normal cost rate 9.11% 9.06% 

Employer normal cost rate 9.11% 9.06% 

140



Mr. Dave Nelsen 
March 11, 2025 
Page 3 
 

5928552v2/05579.001  
 

Determination of UAAL contribution rates and 
Actuarial Funding Policy considerations 
As we indicated above, LAFCO is currently paying to the County the same employer rate 

charged by ACERA, which includes both a normal cost rate and a rate to amortize the UAAL.  

In the December 31, 2023 valuation, the net UAAL rate for the General membership group that 

is ultimately paid by the County reflects the UAAL for the County and several other district 

employers at ACERA after it has been offset by the credits from the pension obligation bonds 

(POB), and the implicit retiree health benefit subsidy that is only available to the County. 

Given the unique circumstances as they relate to the retention of the two existing County 

employees to work at LAFCO, and the amount that is charged to LAFCO that has always 

included a UAAL cost component, it would be reasonable for LAFCO to contribute the same 

UAAL contribution rate as other district employers at ACERA. 

The County issued POB in the late 1990’s. The proceeds from the POB provided additional 

contributions to advance fund the UAAL for the County as well as for Alameda Health System, 

Superior Court and First 5 as these district employers were part of the County at the time the 

POB was issued. In return for the POB contributions, ACERA has been providing POB credit to 

these employers to reduce their UAAL contribution rate. We understand that in order to pay 

back the POB, these employers have been charged a proportionate share of the annual debt 

service payment by the County.  

Also, the County’s health care plan premiums are underwritten on a blended rate basis based 

on both the active employees of the County and all eligible ACERA members enrolled in the 

group plans who are under age 65 and receiving a premium subsidy from the SRBR. Because 

the health care plan premiums if underwritten only on the members in the SRBR would have 

been higher, there is an implicit subsidy paid by the County using the blended rate for their 

active employees. As a result, ACERA has been providing a credit to reduce the County’s UAAL 

contribution rate to reflect the implicit retiree health benefit subsidy cost.  

The table below shows the employer UAAL rate that is currently paid by the County for their 

General employees (that we have provided for informational purposes) compared to LAFCO’s 

UAAL rate after LAFCO becomes an independent participating employer with ACERA, based on 

the results of the December 31, 2023 valuation. In recommending the UAAL rate for LAFCO, we 

have taken into consideration input received from ACERA that the County would not be inclined 

to extend the POB credit to LAFCO and it would not charge LAFCO for a proportionate share of 

the annual debt service payment made by the County. 

  

141



Mr. Dave Nelsen 
March 11, 2025 
Page 4 
 

5928552v2/05579.001  
 

 

UAAL Rates Determined as of December 31, 2023 

Employer UAAL Rate 

(For Informational 
Purposes)  

UAAL Rate for 
County General  

Employees 

Recommended UAAL 
Rate for LAFCO 

Employees 

UAAL (Before POB and Implicit Subsidy Credits) 19.52% 19.52% 

POB Credit (5.06%) N/A 

Implicit Retiree Health Benefit Subsidy Credit (1.08%) N/A 

Net UAAL Rate 13.38% 19.52% 

Even after the Board approves the initial UAAL rate for LAFCO, there would still be a need to 

determine if future changes in the UAAL (such as from actuarial gains/losses) would be tracked 

separately for LAFCO. Under the Board’s Actuarial Funding Policy, with the exception of the 

UAAL contribution rate adjustments outlined above, all General employers with similar benefit 

and contribution history4 share in the same UAAL contribution rate.  

Similar to the normal cost discussion above, due to the small population size of LAFCO, 

tracking and charging LAFCO based on their unique actuarial experience could lead to large 

swing in their UAAL rate. Therefore, absent any direction to the contrary from the Board of 

Retirement, we would follow ACERA’s Actuarial Funding Policy to pool the future changes in 

UAAL for LAFCO with the other General employers.  

However, as the annual payments required to pay off the UAAL for the General membership 

group are charged to an ACERA General employer based on payroll, for a small agency such 

as LAFCO with only two employees, a temporary reduction in payroll (if an active employee 

leaves LAFCO and is not immediately replaced by another employee) or a permanent reduction 

in payroll (if budgetary concerns caused LAFCO to reduce its workforce) might result in not 

collecting the proper UAAL amount. Depending on the circumstances, we might need to consult 

with the Board on how such occurrence would be handled in future valuations taking into 

consideration the “triggering event” under ACERA’s Declining Employer Payroll Policy. 

Other considerations 
Information provided in this letter is based on the most recent December 31, 2023 actuarial 

valuation results, including the financial, participant data and actuarial assumptions on which 

that valuation was based.  

 
4  LARPD is the only General employer that has adopted a Tier 3 plan and they have made additional contributions to advance fund 

their UAAL. As a result, the UAAL contribution rate for LARPD has been calculated separately. 

142



Mr. Dave Nelsen 
March 11, 2025 
Page 5 
 

5928552v2/05579.001  
 

Segal valuation results are based on proprietary actuarial modeling software. The actuarial 

valuation models generate a comprehensive set of liability and cost calculations that are 

presented to meet regulatory, legislative and client requirements. Our Actuarial Technology and 

Systems unit, comprised of both actuaries and programmers, is responsible for the initial 

development and maintenance of these models. The models have a modular structure that 

allows for a high degree of accuracy, flexibility and user control. The client team programs the 

assumptions and the plan provisions, validates the models, and reviews test lives and results, 

under the supervision of the responsible actuary. 

The actuarial calculations contained in this letter were performed under the supervision of Eva 

Yum, FSA, MAAA, Enrolled Actuary. We are members of the American Academy of Actuaries 

and we meet the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the 

actuarial opinions herein. 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to give us a call. 

Sincerely, 

 
 

Andy Yeung, ASA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Vice President and Actuary 

Eva Yum, FSA, MAAA, EA 
Vice President and Actuary 

 
EY/jl 
 
cc: Rachel Jones 
 

Disclaimer 

This document has been prepared for the exclusive use and benefit of the client, 
based upon information provided by you and your other service providers or otherwise 
made available to Segal at the time this document was created. Segal makes no 
representation or warranty as to the accuracy of any forward-looking statements and 
does not guarantee any particular outcome or result. This document should only be 
copied, reproduced, or shared with other parties in its entirety as necessary for the 
proper administration of the Plan. This document does not constitute legal, tax or 
investment advice or create or imply a fiduciary relationship. You are encouraged to 
discuss any issues raised with your legal, tax and other advisors before taking, or 
refraining from taking, any action. 

 

143



Blank for Photocopying 

6144



Attachment 3

145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11,  2025  

Item No. 7 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Draft Chart of Accounts for LAFCO Financial System 
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will receive a report on the draft 

Chart of Accounts (CoA) prepared in support of the Commission’s transition to full administrative 

and fiscal independence from Alameda County. The new CoA will establish a dedicated financial 

reporting framework tailored to LAFCO’s operations, replacing the County’s system beginning 

January 1, 2026. 

 

The Commission is asked to review the draft CoA and provide direction to staff regarding next 

steps. Final adoption will ensure that LAFCO is positioned to independently budget, account for, 

and report all revenues and expenditures in alignment with state requirements and Commission 

priorities. 

 

Background 

 

As part of the Commission’s transition to administrative and fiscal independence from Alameda 

County, staff is working with LAFCO’s newly contracted bookkeeper to establish an updated Chart of 

Accounts (CoA). The new CoA will replace the County’s accounting framework and provide LAFCO 

with an independent, transparent, and flexible financial reporting structure beginning January 1, 2026. 

The development of a CoA is a critical step in implementing the Commission’s approved Independence 

Plan (Phase II). A dedicated CoA will ensure LAFCO has the ability to: 

• Accurately budget, track, and report expenditures and revenues separate from County 

accounts; 

• Meet state requirements for transparent public agency accounting; 

• Align financial reporting with LAFCO’s operational structure, including staffing, service 

reviews, and Commission operations; and 

• SDFSHDAJHSADJK 

• Support long-term planning, audits, and internal controls. 

173



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 7 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Discussion 

The draft CoA has been prepared in collaboration with the bookkeeper and reviewed by staff. The 

structure follows standard government accounting practices but has been tailored to reflect LAFCO’s 

specific functions and independence objectives. 

Key elements include: 

▪ General Fund Accounts for salaries, benefits, and administrative operations. 

▪ Salaries and Benefits: Presented in greater detail to ensure more precise tracking of payroll, 

retirement, and health-related costs as these functions transition from the County to LAFCO’s 

independent providers. 

▪ Education Accounts for stipends, meeting expenses, and travel reimbursements. 

▪ Services and Supplies: Accounts have been grouped together more logically (e.g., 

professional services, consultants, and operating expenses), which results in a slightly different 

order compared to the County’s format. 

▪ Fund Balance & Reserves accounts to track contingency reserves and long-term fiscal 

stability. 

The CoA will also provide for clearer tracking of payroll and benefits costs, as those functions 

transition from Alameda County Human Resources and Auditor-Controller to LAFCO’s independent 

payroll provider and benefits broker. 

 

Next Steps 

• Finalize the draft CoA in consultation with the Policy and Budget Committee (late 

September/early October). 

• Coordinate with County Treasurer to reconcile LAFCO balances and close County accounts 

by December 31, 2025. 

• Begin using the new CoA for all transactions effective January 1, 2026. 

• Develop LAFCO accounting policies. 

• Provide a year-end reconciliation report in mid-2026 to ensure alignment between County and 

LAFCO records during the transition year. 

 

 

 

174



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 7 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

3 | P a g e  

 

Alternatives for Action 

 

The following alternatives are available to the Commission:  

 

Alternative One (Recommended):  

Receive the draft Chart of Accounts prepared for Alameda LAFCO’s independence transition; and 

direct staff to work with the Policy and Budget Committee and the bookkeeper to finalize the CoA for 

implementation on January 1, 2026. 

 

Alternative Two:  

Continue consideration of the report to a future meeting and provide direction to staff for additional 

information as needed. 

 

Recommendation 

 

It is recommended the Commission proceed with Alternative Action One.  
 

Procedures   

 

This item has been placed on Alameda LAFCO’s agenda as part of the business calendar. The 

following procedures are recommended in consideration of this item: 

 

1. Receive verbal presentation from staff unless waived.  

2. Invite any comments from the public. 

3. Provide feedback on the item as needed. 

 

Respectfully,  

 
Rachel Jones 

Executive Officer 

 

Attachment:  

1. Draft Chart of Accounts 

 

 

 

 

175



Blank for Photocopying 

6176



z

Current Chart of Accounts FY 2024-2025 Proposed Chart of Accounts

Adopted Projected Proposed

Expense Ledger 

Account Description 

Salary and Benefit Costs 6-1000 Salary and Benefit Costs 

Account Description 

60001 Staff Salaries 320,565 320,565 6-1100  Salaries 353,565

- Employee Benefits and Retirement 144,254 144,254 6-1200 Retirement 194,254

6-1300 Other Employee Benefits

6-1400 Payroll Taxes 

6-1500 Payroll Fees 1,875

6-1600 Group Insurance

6-1700 Unemployment Insurance

6-1800 Workers Comp Insurance

464,819 464,819 549,694

Service and Supplies

Account Description 6-2000 Professional Services 

- Intern - - 6-2100 Planning Services 5,000

610077 Postage 500 - 6-2200 Legal Services 35,000

610141 Copier 500 - 6-2300 Bookkeeping 15,000

610191 Pier Diems 10,000 10,000 6-2400 SALC Grant Charges

610211 Mileage/Travel 2,000 1,000 6-2500 County Services 500

610461 Training (Conferences and Workshops) 2,500 2,500 6-2600 Audit Services 10,000

610241 Records Retention 360 360 6-2700 Information Technology 28,000

610261 Consultants 200,000 200,000 6-2800 Consultants 200,000

6-2900 Communications 5,000

610261 Planning Services 5,000 -

610261 Legal Services 20,000 6-3000 Administrative Services

610261 Bookkeeping 6-3100 Office Supplies 3,000

610261 Payroll 6-3200 Postage 500

610261 SALC Grant Charges 6-3300 Copier 500

610311 CAO/CDA - County - Services 250 250 6-3400 Records Retention 375

610312 Audit Services 10,000 10,000 6-3500 Office Lease/Rent 18,500

610351 Memberships 12,509 12,509 6-3600 General Liability 4,500

610421 Public Notices 3,000 1,500 6-3700 Miscellaneous/Fees 2,000

610441 Assessor - County - Services 250 250 6-3800 Public Notices 3,000

610461 Special Departmental 2,000 2000 6-3900 Office Equipment 

620041 Office Supplies 3,000 1,000

6-4000 Education and Travel

6-4100 Commissioner Stipends 10,000

6-4200 Mileage and Travel 2,500

6-4300 Memberships 14,786

6-4400 Traing and Workshops 3,000

271,869 241,369 361,161

Internal Service Charges

Account Description 

619991 Office Lease/Rent/CDA 50,550 15,500 

630061 Information Technology 28,000 28,000 

630081 Risk Management (General Liability) 3,300 3,300 

81,850 46,800 

Contingencies 0 - Contingencies 0

Account Description Account Description 

- Operating Reserve - - - Operating Reserve -

- - -

EXPENSE TOTALS 818,538 752,988 EXPENSE TOTALS 910,855

FY 2025-2026

ALAMEDA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISION
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

Attachment 1

177



Revenue Ledger FY 2024-2025 Revenues

Adopted Actuals Proposed

Intergovernmental 

Account Description Account Description

- Agency Contributions 4-1000 Agency Contributions

    County of Alameda 169,513 169,513              4-1100     County of Alameda 190,952

     Cities 169,513 169,513              4-1200      Cities 190,952

     Special Districts 169,513 169,513              4-1300      Special Districts 190,952

508,538 508,539             572,855

Service Charges

4-2000 Service Charges

- Application Fees 30,000 10,750                4-2100 Application Fees 30,000

- SALC Grant Funds 4-2200 SALC Grant Funds

Investments

8-1000 Investments

- Interest 10,000 13,500                8-1100 Interest 13,000

Fund Balance Offset 270,000 270,000             Fund Balance Offset 295,000

REVENUE TOTALS 818,538 802,789             REVENUE TOTALS 910,855

OPERATING NET (0)                          49,801                OPERATING NET (0)                        

UNRESTRICTED FUND BALANCE UNRESTRICTED FUND BALANCE 

FY 2025-2026

178



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 9 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Executive Officer’s Report 
 

 

The Commission will receive an update from the Alameda LAFCO Executive Officer. The report is 

being presented for discussion and feedback only.  

 

Information 

 

White Paper – Best Practices and Resources for Drinking Water Service Reviews (August 2025) 

 

The white paper titled, Best Practices and Resources for Drinking Water Service Reviews, highlights 

strategies for LAFCOs to strengthen Municipal Service Reviews (MSRs) of drinking water services. 

Mandated by the Cortese-Knox Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000, MSRs serve 

as critical tool for evaluating water service providers, ensuring sustainable access, and supporting 

informed boundary and policy decisions. The paper emphasizes the importance of conducting 

countywide or regional reviews to capture a full picture of service delivery, identify gaps, and evaluate 

opportunities for collaboration or consolidation. 

 

In addition to outlining best practices, such as including private and wholesale water providers, 

engaging the State Water Board’s Division of Drinking Water, and proactively sharing findings with 

local agencies, the paper compiles valuable data resources to support robust analysis. These include 

state databases (e.g., California Drinking Water Watch), annual risk assessments, and mapping tools 

that highlight disadvantaged communities and climate vulnerabilities. 

 

Examples from LAFCOs across the state demonstrate how these practices can be applied to real-world 

challenges, from addressing failing systems to integrating equity considerations into planning. By 

equipping LAFCOs with practical guidance, tools, and lessons learned, the white paper highlights how 

MSRs can move beyond compliance to become proactive instruments for regional resiliency, equitable 

service delivery, and long-term sustainability in drinking water services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

179



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 9 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Transfer of LAFCO Positions to Community Development Agency 

 

On March 11, 2025, the Alameda County Board of Supervisors considered a set of technical budget 

adjustments recommended by the County Administrator. Among these adjustments was the transfer of 

three positions specific to Alameda LAFCO – the Executive Officer, Analyst, and Clerk – from the 

County Administrator’s Office to the Community Development Agency (CDA).  

 

These positions were originally established as unique classifications to strengthen LAFCO’s 

independence while still receiving personnel and administrative support from the County. Transferring 

the classifications to CDA is intended to streamline and centralize support services already provided to 

LAFCO at its Hayward facility. The CDA Director, acting as designee of the County Administrator, 

would continue to serve as the County’s point of oversight under the current Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) with Alameda LAFCO.  

 

This realignment is part of a broader set of County adjustments aimed at consolidating staff resources, 

improving administrative efficiency, and aligning budgeted revenues with current-year allocations.  

 

Attachments: 

1. White Paper, Best Practices and Resources for Drinking Water Service Reviews (August 2025) 
2. Alameda County Board of Supervisors Staff Report: Transfer of LAFCO Positions, (March 2025) 

 

180



    1

The development of Municipal Service Reviews (MSRs) is a critical function of county Local Agency Formation 
Commissions or LAFCos which are tasked with ensuring logical service boundaries. An MSR is a comprehensive 
review of one or more governmental services such as fire protection, water, sewer or flood control within a 
designated geographic area. These reviews can be conducted at the agency level (e.g. individually for each 
special district), regionally (e.g. south county) or at the county level. MSRs are mandated by the Cortese-Knox-
Hertzberg Act of 2000 and must be conducted prior to establishing or updating any sphere of influence within 
a LAFCos’ jurisdiction. 
The MSR process provides the opportunity to proactively review all the covered services provided within a county 
and identify opportunities to improve service delivery, enhance efficiency, and ensure long-term sustainability. 
For each reviewed service provider, an MSR considers the history, role, and financial performance of the local 
agency to help guide smart, long-term planning decisions for our communities. In doing so, MSR development 
also serves as a forum for public participation, fostering conversations on the quality of life in, and future of, 
our communities. Ensuring safe, sustainable, and affordable drinking water services is a critical consideration 
in these conversations and an important topic covered by MSRs. 
While the complexity of drinking water regulation and the sheer number of service providers can complicate 
MSR development for water services, for these same reasons MSRs are an important avenue for ensuring 
comprehensive regional drinking water planning. Inspired by a session at the October 2024 CALAFCO conference, 
this document provides best practices and data resources to support LAFCos in developing drinking water 
related MSRs. By equipping LAFCos with clear guidance, sector specific resources, and examples, MSRs can 
become powerful tools to identify service gaps, promote equitable access, and inform decisions that directly 
impact the health and well-being of California communities.

Best Practices
Many straightforward best practices can help ensure an MSR accomplishes these goals. These include:

Conduct countywide regional reviews of water services:
While MSRs can be conducted for specific drinking water service providers or sub-regionally within a county, 
there are important benefits to conducting these reviews at the county level. Among these benefits are helping 
to paint a complete picture of water service delivery in the region to support smarter, more integrated decision-
making and ensure a clear picture of any service gaps. When a MSR is completed for multiple providers together, 
there are also more opportunities to consider the strengths and weaknesses of these entities in relation to 
one another. This then allows for the easier identification of potential solutions including opportunities for 
consolidation and collaboration between providers (See “The many benefits of countywide Municipal Service 
Reviews” below for more examples).

Consider all water service providers including private water companies, Mobile Home Parks and 
wholesale providers:
LAFCos have jurisdiction over all drinking water providers that are either general purpose governments 
(including subsidiary districts) or independent special districts. It is these bodies for which they are required 
to develop MSRs. Nonetheless, in most counties there also exist other types of drinking water providers 
(See “Who provides drinking water?”). While LAFCos are not required to include these systems in their MSRs, 

Best Practices and Resources 
for Drinking Water Service Reviews

Attachment 1

181



    2

they may choose to do so and have the authority to request information from private water providers for 
this purpose under California Government Code §56430(7)(d). Including these providers is important to get 
a complete picture of drinking water services at any scale and can help make sure a county is not caught 
unaware in the case of system failures or other unexpected events. For the same reason it is also helpful 
to include wholesale water providers, whose functioning has direct implications for local retail providers. 

Share completed reviews with all reviewed service providers:
Any plan is only as good as its implementation. While LAFCos cannot force local service providers to take up 
their recommendations, it is important that they are at least aware of the findings. To maximize communication, 
LAFCos should not just proactively distribute the draft and finalized MSRs but also invite all reviewed districts 
to the relevant public hearings and consider presenting at the board meetings of reviewed districts as well 
(including the County Board of Supervisors for subsidiary systems). 

Share completed reviews with other county officials:
Counties play an important role in drought and emergency planning and often also regulate very small water 
systems. Completed MSRs should be shared with the relevant offices and officials including the standing 
drought task force and any offices acting as the Local Primacy Agency for systems serving less than 200 
service connections. 

Ensure communication with the Division of Drinking Water:
All public water systems are regulated under the Safe Drinking Water Act. Most of these systems are regulated 
directly by the State Water Resources Control Board’s Division of Drinking Water (DDW). DDW has regional 
engineers that ensure compliance with water quality and reporting requirements, issue violations, and support 
short- and long-term solutions for failing systems. These regional engineers are an important source of 
information in developing MSRs. Importantly, they are also an audience for MSR findings. While they may not 
always be aware of institutional challenges outside of the scope of water quality, supply, or infrastructure, with 
this information they can proactively monitor and offer resources to systems based on their specific needs. 

	¼ Regional Perspective and Comparison: 
A countywide MSR allows a LAFCo to analyze all 
water districts side by side, highlighting disparities, 
redundancies, overlaps that might be missed in 
isolated reviews.

	¼ Clear Identification of Service Gaps: Considering 
all service providers collectively helps identify 
where service gaps may exist while also helping to 
identify potential service providers for those areas.

	¼ Efficiency and Consistency: Completing one 
comprehensive report streamlines staff time, 
reduces duplication of effort, and ensures 
consistency in data analysis, evaluation criteria, 
and recommendations across districts.

	¼ Opportunities for Collaboration: Maximally 
inclusive MSRs can help identify more opportuni-
ties for shared services and regionalization 
between water providers within a county. 

The many benefits of countywide Municipal Service Reviews:

	¼ Stronger Policy Insights: A countywide MSR 
provides a broader understanding of system-
wide challenges like drought resilience, 
groundwater management, infrastructure 
needs, and access equity, which are often 
regional in nature.

	¼ Improved Support for Statewide Goals: 
A holistic review is better aligned with state 
priorities such as the Sustainable 
Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) and the 
Human Right to Water, as it can identify 
systemic issues across multiple jurisdictions.

	¼ Enhanced Stakeholder Engagement: 
A single, comprehensive process allows for 
more coordinated outreach with local 
agencies, communities, and disadvantaged 
populations, fostering collaboration and 
shared problem-solving.

182



    3

Proactively look to address review recommendations:
As noted above, MSR findings themselves are not enforceable. A LAFCo, however, is authorized and encouraged 
under the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act to initiate jurisdictional changes including the formation, consolidation, 
and dissolution of special districts, when appropriate and consistent with a recommendation within a prepared 
MSR. There are also other potential opportunities where LAFCo can encourage engagement with MSR findings 
and recommendations. Most commonly these arise when a local agency submits a request for a revision to their 
sphere of influence or service boundaries. As a part of the review and approval process for such applications, 
LAFCo may choose to impose prerequisites or contingencies. These are important opportunities to implement 
MSR recommendations that should be leveraged whenever possible.  

Incorporate deadlines and incentives where possible:
LAFCos can include deadlines as part of their MSR recommendations to advance certain actions. For example, 
updating their website to comply with state law or requesting the submittal of a strategic plan due to significant 
concerns raised in the MSR. LAFCos may also choose to introduce incentives for completing certain tasks, 
such as waiving filing fees if subject agencies submit applications for annexation within an identified timeline. 

Develop and follow a regular schedule for MSRs:
MSRs are to be conducted at least every five years or as necessary to inform sphere of influence determinations. 
Ensuring that these reviews are done on a regular basis will provide a benchmark to monitor the quality and 
sustainability of water services and can help spot challenges before they negatively impact operations (for 
example, growing vacancies on a governing board). It can also simplify and streamline the process by ensuring 
more consistent communication with local agencies and avoiding the need for large-scale overhauls of the 
previous report. Many LAFCOs have adopted multi-year work plans to ensure that service reviews are conducted 
for each local agency at least once within the five-year cycle.

Who provides drinking water?
California counts more than 2,800 community water systems or drinking water systems that serve more 
than 15 residential service connections (or more than 25 people) year-round. Additionally, the state has 
more than 4,400 Transient Non-Community and Non-Transient Non-Community water systems which serve 
non-residential systems meeting the same service thresholds. Collectively these systems are known as 
public water systems and are regulated under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act. The remainder of 
residents receive their drinking water from unregulated private domestic wells or from state small water 
systems (serving between 5 and 14 connections) which are regulated at the county level. 

To make matters more complicated, these systems are operated by a diverse array of water providers. 
More than 28 different types of entities operate drinking water systems in California. Most commonly 
these include local agencies (e.g. cities, independent special districts, dependent special districts, and 
school districts), Investor-Owned Utilities, Mutual Water Companies, Tribal Governments, and Mobile Home 
Parks. Many remote facilities also have their own water systems which can also be publicly or privately 
owned, for example, agricultural packing houses, state prisons, industrial complexes and national park 
facilities. Roughly 42% of community water systems are publicly owned whereas 58% are privately owned. 
Thus, in addition to the vital services provided by city and special district-run agencies across the state, 
private service providers also play a significant role in California’s drinking water landscape. 

The number and diversity of water providers in the state highlights the importance of comprehensive 
regional planning to ensure safe, affordable, and sustainable drinking water services. While LAFCos are 
not required to include non-local agency service providers in their MSRs, they may choose to do so and 
specifically have the authority to request information from Mutual Water Companies for this purpose. 
There is an opportunity for LAFCOs to “connect the drops” by analyzing these water organizations through 
MSRs since more than half of the water systems in California do not have mandatory reviews. 

183



    4

Data and Resources
Besides requesting documents and information from water providers under review, there are many publicly 
available data resources that provide relevant information about regulated water systems and their operations 
that can be incorporated into MSRs. These include:

Resource, Description & Link Potential Uses

California Drinking Water Watch
The state’s safe drinking water information system database. It includes all the regulatory and water 
quality information that the state then reports to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under the 
Safe Drinking Water Act. The database includes all active public water systems by county. 
https://sdwis.waterboards.ca.gov/PDWW/

Generating a list of all public water 
systems within a county; Finding 
contact information for a water 
system; Determining the number 
of service connections and 
population served by a system; 
Reviewing mandatory annual 
Consumer Confidence reports 
submitted by water systems; 
Determining if a system has been 
issued a violation or enforcement 
action by state regulators.

Annual Drinking Water Needs Assessment Risk Assessment of Public Water Systems 
An annual review of California’s progress on implementing the Human Right to Water (AB 685). The 
risk assessment for public water systems is one of four components of the needs assessment. This 
assessment assigns public water systems a status as either not at-risk, potentially at-risk, at-risk, or 
failing based on a detailed set of criteria and metrics, all of which are publicly available for use. Notably, 
water systems serving more than 10,000 people are excluded from this analysis. 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/saferdashboard.html

Collecting data on individual water 
system performance related to 
water quality, water supply, and 
affordability; Identifying which 
systems in a county are failing, 
at-risk or potentially at-risk.

SAFER Project and Funding Snapshot Tool
 You can now find information about active state support (grants and technical assistance) provided to 
individual water systems that are considered failing or at-risk using the project and funding snapshot 
tool. Among the information provided is the total project amount, start date, and status.
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/engagement_unit.html 

Identifying planning, construction, 
and technical assistance grants 
awarded to individual water 
systems; Identifying contracted 
Technical Assistance providers 
within a county.

California Drinking Water Institutions
This dataset identifies the institutional or governance type for all community water systems in the state. 
For example, whether a water system is a Mutual Water Company.
https://datadryad.org/stash/dataset/doi:10.25338/B8KP92

Determining the institutional 
type for a specific water system; 
Identifying all of a specific type of 
water system within a county.

Drinking Water Systems Outreach Tool
This is a mapping tool that displays all regulated drinking water systems plus best available locations for 
state small water systems (water systems serving between 5 and 14 service connections). The map also 
includes CalEnviroScreen score data, data for the state’s aquifer risk detailing groundwater conditions, 
and identifies Disadvantaged Communities (DACs) per the water code definition. 
https://gispublic.waterboards.ca.gov/portal/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=70d27423735e45d6b
037b7fbaea9a6a6

Identifying state small water 
systems; Identifying water 
systems that serve disadvantaged 
communities; Identifying areas 
with groundwater concerns; 
Considering opportunities for 
water system partnerships and 
consolidation.

Division of Drinking Water Regional Engineers
Regulates public water systems for compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act. Regional engineers 
cover one or more counties and are the Water Board’s primary regulatory contact for all systems within 
their district. These staffers communicate regularly with each water system and conduct field visits. 
Map/contact information: https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/programs/documents/
ddwem/DDWdistrictofficesmap.pdf

Determining the compliance 
status of individual water 
systems; Collecting information 
about any relevant state grants or 
ongoing improvement projects.

Water Shortage Vulnerability Tool
A new resource from the Department of Water Resources intended to support counties with their 
drought resilience planning under SB 552. While the tool only covers water systems serving fewer 
than 3,000 connections, it provides a robust set of climate and drought indicators for these systems. 
In addition to localized climate change projects the tool includes information about a systems 
infrastructure and recent drought impacts. Based on this data, each system is assigned a vulnerability 
score between 0 and 100. 
https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/ae1b4e3e41004f07b4901a7a3fa50637/page/Small-Water-
Systems?org=DWR#data_s=id%3AdataSource_11-19418561f1e-layer-73-0%3A2378

Quantifying the drought 
vulnerability of water systems 
under review; Collecting data 
on system infrastructure and 
drought related challenges.

184

https://sdwis.waterboards.ca.gov/PDWW/
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/saferdashboard.html
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/engagement_unit.html
https://datadryad.org/stash/dataset/doi:10.25338/B8KP92
https://gispublic.waterboards.ca.gov/portal/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=70d27423735e45d6b037b7fbaea9a6a6
https://gispublic.waterboards.ca.gov/portal/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=70d27423735e45d6b037b7fbaea9a6a6
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/programs/documents/ddwem/DDWdistrictofficesmap.pdf
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/programs/documents/ddwem/DDWdistrictofficesmap.pdf
https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/ae1b4e3e41004f07b4901a7a3fa50637/page/Small-Water-Systems?org=DWR#data_s=id%3AdataSource_11-19418561f1e-layer-73-0%3A2378
https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/ae1b4e3e41004f07b4901a7a3fa50637/page/Small-Water-Systems?org=DWR#data_s=id%3AdataSource_11-19418561f1e-layer-73-0%3A2378


    5

Further Reading
Dobbin & McBride (2024). “LAFCo and Water System Consolidation: Bridging the gap between local 
and state regulators to stop and reverse water system fragmentation”. Available at: https://bit.ly/
LAFCO_systemconsolidation
Dobbin & Fencl (2022). “Who governs California’s drinking water Systems?”. California WaterBlog. Available 
at: https://californiawaterblog.com/2022/01/23/who-governs-californias-drinking-water-systems/
Lai (2017). “Adopting County Policies Which Limit Public Water System Sprawl and Promote Small System 
Consolidation”. Luskin Center for Innovation. Available at: https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/
uploads/2019/03/Adopting_County_Policies_which_Limit_Public_Water_System_Sprawl_and_Promote_
Small_System_Consolidation.pdf
Rural Communities Assistance Partnership (2022). “Regional Collaboration for Water and Wastewater 
Utilities”. Available at: https://online.flippingbook.com/view/329354245/4/

Author: Kristin Dobbin
Contact: kbdobbin@berkeley.edu
August 2025

Best practices in practice
Many California LAFCos are leading the implementation of best practices to leverage MSRs as tools to identify 
service gaps, promote equitable access, and inform decisions that directly impact the health and well-being 
of California communities. Examples from around the state include:

	• Santa Cruz LAFCo offers to attend any reviewed agency’s board meetings after completing an MSR to 
summarize the findings and recommendations and answer questions.

	• Tulare County LAFCo approved an applicant-initiated annexation for an industrial complex on the 
condition that a nearby disadvantaged unincorporated community be included to resolve the 
communities’ longstanding water supply and quality challenges. 

	• Napa LAFCo adopted a countywide water and wastewater service review in 2020. This review mapped all 
community water systems in the county including Mutual Water Companies and other privately owned 
drinking water providers cataloging the populations and areas served by these systems. This was done at 
request of commissioners who wanted a complete picture of local water services to preempt any 
significant operating challenges or access issues. 

	• San Diego LAFCo initiates meet-and-greets with affected agencies at the start of a Municipal Service 
Review (MSR) and offers to attend board meetings and staff meetings throughout the process. This 
approach helps ensure ongoing communication with both agency boards and their staff during the 
development of the MSR.

185

https://bit.ly/LAFCO_systemconsolidation
https://bit.ly/LAFCO_systemconsolidation
https://californiawaterblog.com/2022/01/23/who-governs-californias-drinking-water-systems/
https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Adopting_County_Policies_which_Limit_Public_Water_System_Sprawl_and_Promote_Small_System_Consolidation.pdf
https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Adopting_County_Policies_which_Limit_Public_Water_System_Sprawl_and_Promote_Small_System_Consolidation.pdf
https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Adopting_County_Policies_which_Limit_Public_Water_System_Sprawl_and_Promote_Small_System_Consolidation.pdf
https://online.flippingbook.com/view/329354245/4/


Blank for Photocopying 

6186



COUNTY OF ALARED

CALIFORVIA

Attachment 2

187



py

V

g

p

p p

188



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 10a 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Current and Pending Proposals 
 

 

The Commission will receive a report identifying active proposals on file with the Alameda Local 

Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) as required under statute. The report also identifies 

pending local agency proposals to help telegraph future workload. The report is being presented 

to the Commission for information only.   

 

Information / Discussion   

 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (“CKH”) delegates 

LAFCOs with regulatory and planning duties to coordinate the formation and development of local 

government agencies and their municipal services. This includes approving or disapproving boundary 

changes involving the formation, expansion, merger, and dissolution of cities, towns, and special 

districts, as well as sphere of influence amendments. It also includes overseeing outside service 

extensions. Proposals involving jurisdictional changes filed by landowners or registered voters must 

be put on the agenda as information items before any action may be considered by LAFCO at a 

subsequent meeting.  

 

Current Proposals | Approved and Awaiting Term Completions   

 

Alameda LAFCO currently has no proposals on file that were previously approved and awaiting term 

completions. CKH provides applicants one calendar year to complete approval terms or receive 

extension approvals before the proposals are automatically terminated.   

 

Current Proposals | Under Review and Awaiting Hearing    

 

There is currently one active proposal on file with the Commission that remains under administrative 

review and awaits a hearing as of date of this report.  

 

▪ Annexation of Merritt Property | City of Pleasanton 

The City of Pleasanton is proposing annexation of a four-subject parcel in unincorporated 

Alameda County for the development of a 111-lot residential subdivision, including an age-

qualified community consisting of 92-single family homes and duplexes. The affected 

territory is located within the City’s sphere of influence and urban growth boundary.  

189



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 10a 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Pending Proposals    

 

There is currently one new potential proposal at the moment that staff believes may be submitted to the 

Commission from local agencies based on ongoing discussions with proponents. 

 

▪ Reorganization of Appian Way/Louis Ranch Property | ACWD and USD 

The Alameda County Water District (ACWD) and Union Sanitary District (USD) are 

evaluating a plan to annex one parcel totaling approximately 30 acres within the City of 

Union City. The purpose of the annexation is to develop 325 single-family residential units 

on nine parcels totaling 98.6 acres.  

 

Alternatives for Action 

 

This item is for informational purposes only. No formal action will be taken as part of this item. 
 

Attachments: none 

 

 

 

190



     
  

 
 

LAFCO 
Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission   
 

 

Administrative Office 
Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
224 West Winton Avenue, Suite 110 
Hayward, California 94544 
T:  510.670.6267 
www.alamedalafco.org 

Jack Balch, Regular 
City of Pleasanton 
 
John Marchand, Regular 
City of Livermore  
 
Sherry Hu 
City of Dublin 
 

Ralph Johnson, Chair  
Castro Valley Sanitary District 
 
Mariellen Faria, Regular  
Eden Township Healthcare  
 
Peter Rosen, Alternate 
Hayward Area Recreation and Park District 

 

Sblend Sblendorio, Regular 
Public Member  
 
Bob Woerner, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Nate Miley, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
David Haubert, Regular  
County of Alameda  
 
Lena Tam, Alternate 
County of Alameda  
 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT 

September 11, 2025  

Item No. 10b 
 

TO:  Alameda Commissioners  
   

FROM: Rachel Jones, Executive Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Progress Report on 2025-2026 Work Plan  
 

 

The Alameda Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) will receive a progress report on 

accomplishing specific projects as part of its adopted work plan for 2025-2026. The report is being 

presented to the Commission to formally receive and file as well as provide direction to staff as needed.  

 

Background   

 

Alameda LAFCO’s current strategic plan was adopted following a planning session on June 23, 2023. 

The plan defines each of LAFCO’s priorities through overall goals, core objectives, and target 

outcomes with overarching themes identified as education, facilitation, and collaboration. The strategic 

plan is anchored by seven key priorities that collectively orient the Commission to proactively fulfill 

its duties and responsibilities under the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act of 2000 in a manner responsive 

to local conditions and needs. These pillars and their related strategies, which premise individual 

implementation outcomes, are summarized below.  

 

1. Education – Serve as a resource to the public and local agencies to support orderly growth and 

logical sustainable service provision. 

 

2. Facilitation – Encourage orderly growth and development through the logical and efficient 

provision of municipal services by local agencies best suited to feasibly provide necessary 

governmental services and housing for persons and families of all incomes. 

 

3. Collaboration – Be proactive and act as a catalyst for change as a way to contribute to making 

Alameda County a great place to live and work by sustaining its quality of life. 

 

On May 8, 2025, Alameda LAFCO adopted the current fiscal year work plan at a noticed public 

hearing. The work plan is divided into two distinct categories – statutory and administrative – with one 

of three priority rankings: high; moderate; or low. The underlying intent of the work plan is to serve 

as a management tool to allocate Commission resources in an accountable and transparent manner over 

the corresponding 12-month period that pulls from the key priorities in the Commission’s Strategic 

Plan.  

 

191



Alameda LAFCO 
September 11, 2025 Meeting 

Agenda Item No. 10b 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

2 | P a g e  

 

Further, while it is a standalone document, the work plan should be reviewed in relationship to the 

adopted operating budget given the planned goals and activities are facilitated and or limited 

accordingly.  

 

This item provides the Commission with a status update on nineteen targeted projects established for 

the fiscal year with a specific emphasis on the “top ten” projects that represent the highest priority to 

complete during the fiscal year as determined by the membership. This includes identifying the projects 

already completed, underway, or pending in the accompanying attachment. The report and referenced 

attachment are being presented for the Commission to formally receive and file while also providing 

additional direction to staff as appropriate.  

 

Discussion  

 

The Commission is underway on four of the nineteen projects included in the adopted work plan. This 

includes progress on projects, such as Countywide Regional Water and Wastewater Committee, 

LAFCO Operational Independence, and the Countywide Municipal Service Review on Health and 

EMS/Ambulance Services. 

 

Alternatives for Action 

 

This item is for informational purposes only. No formal action will be taken as part of this item. 
 

Attachments: 
1. 2025-2026 Work Plan  

 

192



Priority Urgency Type Project Key Issues

1 High Administrative

2 High Statutory

3
High Statutory

4 High Administrative

5 High Statutory

6 High Administrative

7 High Administrative

8 Moderate Administrative

9 Moderate Statutory

10 Moderate Administrative

11 Moderate Statutory

12 Moderate Administrative

13 Moderate Statutory

14 Low Administrative

15 Low Administrative

16 Low Administrative

Countywide Regional Water and Wastewater Committee
Develop a Framework for Creating a Countywide Regional Water and Wastewater Committee

LAFCO Personnel Policies and Procedures Establish own LAFCO personnel policies and employer handbook

Application Proposals and Requests
Utilize resources to address all application proposals and boundary issues (ex. South 

Livermore Sewer Extension Project)

Continue Producing LAFCO Graphic Design Materials for Transparency and  Outreach 

Examine Current Provision and Need for Police Services and Related Fianncial Considerations

Informational Report on Island Annexations
Map all Unincorporated Islands and Examine Island Annexation Implementation Issues in 

Alameda County

Streamline LAFCO Application and County Mapping Requirements; Make User Friendly

Special Report on Service Delivery

Work in Partnership with the County to Review and Evaluate Land Use Designations for 

Agricultural and Open Space Areas

Informational Report on Remen Tract

Update Application Packet and Mapping Requirements 

South Livermore Valley Sewer Extension
Collaborate with the City of Livermore to review and implement best service connection 

options to winegrowers 

ALAMEDA LAFCO WORKPLAN | 2025-2026

Review of County Transfer of Jurisdiction Policies 

LAFCO Operational Independence

Countywide MSR on Health and EMS/Ambulance Services

2024-2025 Audit

Local Agency Directory Update and MSR Summary Report

Police Services Municipal Service Review

Agricultural Land Use Designation Project

Participate and Facilitate Ongoing MSR Fire Service 

Discussions

Ensure Policies are Consistent with CKH

 SALC Agricultural Conservation Acquisition Grants

Apply for SALC Grants to permanently protect croplands, rangelands, and lands utilized for the 

cultivation of traditional resources from conversion to non-agricultural uses

Work with Fire Agencies in Providing Possible Boundary Solutions and Shared Facilities

Establish LAFCO as its own employer

Consider accessibility of healthcare (including mental health) services to all residents within 

Alameda County

Verify Fund Balance; Perform Regular Audits

Attachment 1

193



17 Low Administrative

18 Low Administrative

18 Low Administrative

19 Ongoing Statutory

Attend Meetings with Other Bay Area LAFCOs for Projects/Training 

Legislative Proposal - UC Berkeley Report

Policy Review on Agricultural Protection and Out of Area 

Service Agreements

Periodical review of exisitng policies relative to practices and trends, and determine whether 

changes are appropriate to better reflect current preferences

Work with LAFCOs to facilitate legislation implementing UC Report recommendations to 

improve LAFCO oversight 

Bay Area LAFCO Meetings

Social Media Expand Alameda LAFCO's Social Media Presence 

194


	09_11_25_Agenda
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo4a_Minutes
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo4b_Calendar_MeetingDates
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo4c_Lamphier-Gregory_ContractAmendment
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo4d_HealthServicesMSR_ADW-ContractExtension
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo4e_Bookkeeping_ContractExtension
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo4f_HR-Policies_ContractAmendment
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo5_CCSA_PhaseI-Study
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo5_CCSA_PhaseI-Study_Attachment1.pdf
	1. Overview
	About the Castlewood CSA
	Population and Land Use
	Map 1  Castlewood CSA


	2. Overview of Services, Facilities & Infrastructure
	Table 1  Summary of Current Facilities, Services & Providers

	3. Administration & Engineering
	Table 2  Summary of CCSA General Fund
	General Fund Expenditures
	General Fund Revenues

	4. Sewer M&O and Capital Improvements
	Collection System
	Sewer Treatment
	Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs)
	Sewer M&O Expenditures
	Table 3  Summary of Sewer M&O Costs as Basis for FY2024-25 Charges

	Sewer M&O Service Charges
	Sewer Capital Improvements & Funding

	5. Water Maintenance & Operations (M&O) and Capital Improvements
	Water Source and Distribution
	Water Quality
	Water System Leakage
	Water M&O Expenditures
	Table 4  Summary of Water Costs as Basis for FY2024-25 Charges

	Non-recurring Water M&O Expenditures
	Water M&O Service Charges
	Water O&M Supplemental Charge

	Water Capital Improvements
	Table 5  Water System Improvement Costs


	6. Roads
	Road Fund Expenditures
	Road Capital Improvements
	Table 6  Road Capital Improvement Costs

	Road Funding

	7. Other Public Services
	Police Protection
	Fire Protection
	Planning & Building
	CC&R Enforcement
	Library

	8. Financial Conditions, Indicators & Trends
	Table 7  Summary of CCSA Revenues and Expenditures
	Revenues
	Property Tax
	Service Charges
	Table 8  Summary of Charges (FY23-FY29)

	Expenditures
	Assets
	Fund Balances
	Infrastructure and Facilities

	Liabilities
	State Loan
	County Revolving Fund


	9. Governance Options
	Table 9  Summary of Governance Options
	CCSA (Status Quo)
	Community Services District
	Annexation to Pleasanton

	Attachment A
	CCSA Sewer Parcel Map

	Attachment B
	CCSA Water Parcel Map

	Attachment C
	CCSA Roads Parcel Map

	Attachment D
	CCSA Roads and Approximate Lengths

	Attachment E
	CCSA Tax Increment Factors by Entity



	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo6_RetirementandHealthBenefits-Report
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo7_ChartofAccounts
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo9_ExecutiveOfficersReport
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo10a_Proposals
	09_11_25_AgendaItemNo10b_WorkPlan



